#### SCHOOL BOARD ACTION REPORT



**DATE:** May 13, 2020

**FROM:** Denise Juneau, Superintendent

**LEAD STAFF:** Clover Codd, Chief Human Resources Officer

clcodd@seattleschools.org

206-478-9948

Tom Poulos, Director of Labor Relations

tdpoulos@seattleschools.org

206-743-3576

**For Introduction:** May 27, 2020 **For Action:** May 27, 2020

#### 1. TITLE

Approval of the successor collective bargaining agreement between Seattle Public Schools ("the District") and the Seattle/King County Building and Construction Trades Council ("the Council") for September 1, 2019 through August 31, 2022.

#### 2. PURPOSE

This Board Action Report initiates approval of the successor collective bargaining agreement (CBA) negotiated between representatives of the Council and the District. The CBA is for a three-year period commencing September 1, 2019 and ending August 31, 2022. The CBA includes across-the-board wage increases; an increase in swing shift differential; an increase in the summer work incentive bonus; a new on-call bonus for employees taking call for the Senior General Foreman; a new hourly premium for temporary employees who are ineligible for SEBB (as a replacement for previous health care benefits); language changes to comply with the *Janus* Supreme Court decision regarding union due payments, changes to comply with new Washington state requirements around sick leave utilization and the transition to SEBB; language requiring a review of comparable employers when negotiating future wage increases; and agreement to transition employees to receive paperless pay information.

#### 3. RECOMMENDED MOTION

I move that the School Board approve the CBA and authorize the Superintendent to execute the agreement with the Council with the wage schedules and other attachments in the form of the draft CBA for the period September 1, 2019 through August 31, 2022, as attached to the School Board Action Report, with any minor additions, deletions, and modifications deemed necessary by the Superintendent, and to take any necessary actions to implement the CBA. Immediate action is in the best interest of the District.

#### 4. <u>BACKGROUND INFORMATION</u>

a. **Background:** The 2016-2019 collective bargaining agreement between the Council and the Union expired on August 31, 2019. By operation of state law, the provisions of the 2016-2019 collective bargaining agreement remained in effect governing the relationship

between the parties, pending the negotiations of a new agreement. Representatives of the parties reached a final agreement on the terms of the new three-year CBA through a conference call on April 16, 2020 and the Union membership ratified the agreement on Wednesday, April 29, 2020.

The agreement establishes general wage increases of:

- Effective 9/1/19 5.4% general wage increase. Electricians receive a \$2.50 hourly rate increase prior to the 5.4% wage increases due to significant retention and recruitment concerns.
- Effective 9/1/20 general wage increase of 2.1% or the state authorized and funded inflationary increase, whichever is higher.
- Effective 9/1/21 general wage increase of 2% or the state authorized and funded inflationary increase, whichever is higher.

The CBA also calls for an increase in the swing shift differential from \$2.00 per hour to \$2.50 per hour; an increase in the summer work incentive bonus from \$500 to \$547.06 (then the bonus increases by IPD each year thereafter); a new \$50.00 per day bonus for General Foremen who cover weekend on-call for the Senior General Foreman when the latter is on leave for the weekend; and a new \$1.50 per hour premium for temporary employees who are ineligible for SEBB, as a replacement for employer-funded health care benefits that they were previously eligible for.

The CBA transitions employees into receiving their pay information electronically only. It also includes language modifications to comply with the transition to SEBB benefits, Washington state sick leave requirements, and the *Janus* Supreme Court decision regarding union dues payments. Lastly, the CBA now requires that the parties review compensation data from comparable employers when negotiating future wage increases. This reflects the District's current approach to wage increases and moves the parties in closer alignment with how to approach negotiations over future wage increases.

- b. **Alternatives:** Negotiations were completed as a result of nine meetings between August 2019 and February 2020, as well as phone conversations in April while the "stay at home" order was in effect. Failure to enter into this CBA would result in a further delay of securing a new agreement. Mediation would almost certainly be required if the CBA is rejected.
- c. **Research:** The wage increases were based on compensation for similar employees in nine nearby school districts. The District's Electricians had ranked tenth lowest paid out of the ten comparable districts in 19-20. The additional wage increases for the Electricians serve as a market correction that moves them to fifth highest paid out of the ten comparable districts. The 5.4% increase for the other crafts moves them to fifth or higher when compared to the ten other districts. These new rankings reflect the placement of SEA represented employees, Carpenters, and Machinists after their recently ratified successor collective bargaining agreements. The increase in the swing shift differential is identical to what was granted to the Carpenters and was based on at least three other districts who offered higher incentives than what the District currently does. The increase in the summer work incentive bonus is consistent with other District employees who receive this bonus, and helps the department complete its work needs during the summer.

#### 5. FISCAL IMPACT/REVENUE SOURCE

Total new cost of this agreement in 2019-20 is approximately \$978,515 of which approximately \$594,168 is funded by a combination of the state inflationary increase and capital funds, for a net estimated increase to the General Fund of \$384,346.

Budget development for 2020-21 and beyond will take into account the cost of future years.

Estimated costs by year and funding source are:

	2019-20	2020-21	2021-22	Total
Capital Fund	\$459,902	\$591,830	\$720,115	\$1,771,848
State Inflationary				
Increase	\$134,266	\$113,287	\$ -	\$247,554
General Fund	\$384,346	\$554,096	\$812,045	\$1,750,488
Total Contract Cost	\$978,515	\$1,259,214	\$1,532,161	\$3,769,889

Expenditure:
Revenue:
6. <u>COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT</u>
With guidance from the District's Community Engagement tool, this action was determined to merit the following tier of community engagement:
Not applicable     ■     Not applicable     Not applicable
☐ Tier 1: Inform
☐ Tier 2: Consult/Involve
☐ Tier 3: Collaborate
☐ Tier 3: Collaborate

#### 7. <u>EQUITY ANALYSIS</u>

union.

The CBA treats all employees in the bargaining unit equally without regard to protected status. However, classified employees who work in the Trades, tend to earn less than our certificated staff. We have increased wages using a consistent methodology across labor unions to ensure we are providing the best possible wages within our financial means.

representing its employees is to be carried out by representatives of the District and applicable

Pursuant to state law, collective bargaining between the school district and the union

#### 8. STUDENT BENEFIT

The employees covered by this CBA maintain the electrical, plumbing, fire alarm, locks and electronic systems throughout the district. They provide all of the critical maintenance support for the district, as well as completing many projects including portable installation, restroom refresh, painting and roofing.

9. WHY BOARD ACTION IS NECESSARY
☐ Amount of contract initial value or contract amendment exceeds \$250,000 (Policy No. 6220)
☐ Amount of grant exceeds \$250,000 in a single fiscal year (Policy No. 6114)
Adopting, amending, or repealing a Board policy
Formally accepting the completion of a public works project and closing out the contract
Legal requirement for the School Board to take action on this matter
⊠ Board Policy No. 5020, Collective Bargaining, provides the Board shall approve all collective bargaining agreements. Pursuant to state law, the Board must also fix all salaries for District employees and approve benefit and leave policies.
Other:

#### 10. POLICY IMPLICATION

Approval of this CBA complies with Board Policy No. 5020, Collective Bargaining.

#### 11. BOARD COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION

This motion was discussed at the Board Executive Committee meeting on May 20, 2020. At that meeting, the Committee moved the BAR forward for full approval of the Board.

#### 12. TIMELINE FOR IMPLEMENTATION

Upon approval of this motion and execution of the CBA, all new terms of the CBA will be implemented, including payment of retroactive wage increases and swing shift differential increases back to September 1, 2019.

#### 13. <u>ATTACHMENTS</u>

- 2019—2022 Collective Bargaining Agreement between Seattle Public Schools No. 1 Seattle/King County Building and Construction Trades Council for September 1, 2019 through August 31, 2022—clean (for approval)
- 2019—2022 Collective Bargaining Agreement between Seattle Public Schools No. 1 and Seattle/King County Building and Construction Trades Council through August 31, 2022—track changes (for reference)



# 2019-2022 Trades Collective Bargaining Agreement

Seattle Public Schools is committed to making its online information accessible and usable to all people, regardless of ability or technology. Meeting web accessibility guidelines and standards is an ongoing process that we are consistently working to improve.

While Seattle Public Schools endeavors to only post documents optimized for accessibility, due to the nature and complexity of some documents, an accessible version of the document may not be available. In these limited circumstances, the District will provide equally effective alternate access.

For questions and more information about this document, please contact the following:

Clover Codd
Chief Human Resources Officer/Human Resources
Clcodd@seattleschools.org

This is a copy of the approved 2019-2022 Trades Collective Bargaining Agreement between Seattle School District No. 1 and Seattle/King County Building and Construction Trades Council.





#### 2019-2022 COLLECTIVE BARGAINING AGREEMENT

between

**SEATTLE SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 1** 

and

SEATTLE/KING COUNTY BUILDING and CONSTRUCTION TRADES COUNCIL

#### \*Includes:

2019-2022 Collective Bargaining Agreement 2019-2022 Salary Schedules Grievance Request Form 2019-2022 Memorandum of Understanding

In witness whereof, the parties hereto have executed the	his Agreement on this day of, 2020.
FOR SEATTLE-KING COUNTY BUILDING AND CON	ISTRUCTION TRADES COUNCIL:
Monty Anderson, Executive Secretary Seattle-King County Building Trades	Jesse Sanden, Business Representative Bricklayers/Allied Crafts, Local 1
Dale Cannon, Business Manager Building Laborers, Local 242	Mark Samuelson, Business Representative Intl Brotherhood of Electrical Workers, Local 46
Todd Mitchell, Business Manager Heat & Frost Insulators and Allied Workers, Local 7	Steve Hurley, Business Manager Roofers, Local 54
Toby Hoffman, Business Representative Intl Union of Painters and Allied Trades, District Council 5	Corey Wilker, Business Representative Plumbers & Pipefitters, Local 32
	Sam Hem, Business Representative Sheet Metal Workers, Local 66
FOR SEATTLE SO	CHOOL DISTRICT NO. 1:
Denise Juneau, Superintendent Seattle School District No. 1	Clover Codd, Chief Human Resources Officer
	Tom Poulos, Director of Labor Relations

#### 2019-2022 COLLECTIVE BARGAINING AGREEMENT

#### **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

COLLECTIVE BA	ARGAINING AGREEMENT	PAGE
ARTICLE II: ARTICLE III: SECTION A: SECTION B:	RECOGNITION  AFFIRMATIVE ACTION/NON-DISCRIMINATION  MANAGEMENT RIGHTS  Subcontracting.  Small Works Processes and Procedures.	4
ARTICLE IV:	MAINTENANCE OF MEMBERSHIP	6
ARTICLE V:	REPRESENTATION	7
ARTICLE VI:	DEFINITIONS	7
SECTION A:	Employees	. 7
SECTION B:	Regular Employees	7
SECTION C:	Temporary Employees	8
SECTION D:	Apprentice Employees	8
ARTICLE VII:	HOURS AND OVERTIME	8
SECTION A:	General Expectations	
SECTION B:	Normal Work Schedule	8
SECTION C:	Overtime	8
SECTION D:	Special Premium Pay	8
SECTION E:	Refusal of Assignment Outside Regular Hours	9
SECTION F:	Call Back	9
SECTION G:	Show Up Pay	9
SECTION H:	Lunch Period	
SECTION I:	Four Ten Hour Day Shifts (4-10's)	
ARTICLE VIII:	HOLIDAYS	
ARTICLE IX:	LEAVES	
SECTION A:	Annual Leave	
SECTION B:	Sick Leave	
SECTION C:	Personal Leave	13
SECTION D:	Bereavement Leave	13
SECTION E:	Jury Duty and Court Appearances	13
SECTION F:	Unpaid Leaves	13
SECTION G:	Shared Leave	
SECTION H:	Military Leave	
SECTION I:	Family Medical Leave Act	14

	(FMLA)	
SECTION J:	Washington Paid Family Medical Leave Act	
	(WPFMLA)	
SECTION K:	Work Availability Incentive	14
ARTICLE X:	INJURY WHILE ON DUTY	14
ARTICLE XI:	RATES OF PAY	15
SECTION A:	Payroll Schedules	15
SECTION B:	Rate Protection	15
SECTION C:	Lead Rates	15
SECTION D:	Rates of Pay	16
SECTION E:	Overpayment Retrieval	16
ARTICLE XII:	PENSIÓN	16
SECTION A:	Regular Employee	16
SECTION B:	Temporary Employee	17
ARTICLE XIII:	SENIORITY	17
SECTION A:	Probationary Period	17
SECTION B:	Determination of Seniority	17
SECTION C:	Loss of Seniority	17
SECTION D:	Layoff Notification	17
SECTION E:	Short Calls	18
SECTION F:	Determination of Layoffs and Recalls	18
SECTION G:	Military Service	18
SECTION H:	Temporary Employees	18
ARTICLE XIV:	PERFORMANCE EVALUATION	18
ARTICLE XV:	DISCIPLINE AND DISCHARGE OF EMPLOYEES	19
ARTICLE XVI:	GROUP INSURANCE	19
ARTICLE XVII:	GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE	20
ARTICLE XVIII:	SAVINGS CLAUSE	22
ARTICLE XIX:	WORK STOPPAGE	22
ARTICLE XX:	JURISDICTIONAL DISPUTES	22
ARTICLE XXI:	HIRING	22
ARTICLE XXII:	TERM OF AGREEMENT	23
ARTICLE XXIII:	PROTECTION OF EMPLOYEES AND PROPERTY	23
<b>ARTICLE XXIV:</b>	APPRENTICESHIP PROGRAM	23
APPENDIX:		
Appendix A:	Salary Schedule 2019-2020, 2020-2021, 2021- 2022	24
Appendix B:	Grievance Request Form	25
Appendix C:	Dues Deduction Settlement Agreement	26
	F UNDERSTANDING	

#### 2019-2022

# COLLECTIVE BARGAINING AGREEMENT Between the SEATTLE SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 1 and the SEATTLE/KING COUNTY BUILDING and CONSTRUCTION TRADES COUNCIL

#### **ARTICLE I: RECOGNITION**

- A. The Seattle School District No. 1, hereafter referred to as the District, recognizes the Seattle/King County Building and Construction Trades Council and its affiliate unions signatory hereto, and hereafter referred to as the Council, to be the sole and exclusive bargaining agent of those employees who are employed in classifications listed in Appendix A of this Agreement.
- B. In the event the District creates a new job classification for work covered by this Agreement, it will notify the Council who will have the opportunity to negotiate with the District over all mandatory subjects of bargaining. If there is a dispute as to whether the classification is covered by this Agreement, the matter shall be referred to the Washington State Public Employment Relations Commission Mediation Services for adjudication.
- C. The District and the Council recognize that it is in their best interest to develop good on-going working relationships, a collaborative problem-solving mechanism and a collaborative way to deal with problems as they arise. Therefore, the parties agree to meet and discuss subjects of respective and/or mutual interest. All or any subjects of discussion shall be deemed of interest worthy of pursuit
- D. If the District grants any other union that was formerly included in the Building Trades /SPS bargaining unit more favorable across-the-board wage increases, and/or benefit enhancement, than granted to the Building Trades, then the Building Trades affiliated unions shall be entitled to the same across-the-board wage increase and/or benefit enhancement to be implemented on the same date as negotiated with the other union formerly affiliated with the Building Trades/SPS bargaining unit.
- E. With respect to discussions of across-the-board wage increases when this Agreement is opened for renegotiation, the parties will examine compensation data from relevant and comparable employers. The parties will review this comparable compensation data to ensure the District can attract and retain gualified employees.

#### ARTICLE II: AFFIRMATIVE ACTION/NON-DISCRIMINATION

- A. The District and the Council agree that they will not discriminate against any employee by reason of race, creed, age, color, gender, national origin, ancestry, economic status, pregnancy, physical appearance, religious belief, marital status, gender identity, sexual orientation, or mental, physical or sensory disability.
- B. The Council agrees with and supports the concept of Affirmative Action. Therefore, the parties mutually agree to use their best efforts to ensure that this Agreement will not be in conflict with, or inconsistent with Title VII, Title IX of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 and/or Washington State Statutes.

#### **ARTICLE III: MANAGEMENT RIGHTS**

The Council recognizes the District's inherent and traditional right to manage its business and operations. Accordingly, except to the extent specifically covered and controlled by the express terms of this Agreement, the Council recognizes the right of the District to hire, transfer, promote, demote, assign and retain employees and to discipline, suspend or discharge employees for just cause and to maintain the discipline and efficiency of its employees; the right to lay off; the right to establish, change and direct the

methods and processes of doing work, to introduce new and improved work methods or equipment and to assign work to outside contractors; the right to determine the starting and quitting times and the number of hours to be worked; and the right to make and amend such reasonable rules and regulations as it may deem necessary for the conduct of its business and to require their observance. Except for emergency situations or matters involving safety, changes or additions to work rules promulgated by the Maintenance Manager will be distributed to affected employees at least twenty four (24) hours before they become effective.

#### A. SUBCONTRACTING

The District shall retain its right to sub-contract work. However, the District shall not sub-contract work covered by the classifications included in this agreement unless the Core Group of employees are employed. The Core Group shall be 67 employees. After the adoption by the School District of the annual budget, the District shall meet annually with the Executive Secretary of the Seattle/King County Building and Construction Trades Council. The District shall inform the Executive Secretary of the number of Core Group employee positions that it will have for the following school year before the start of that school year as long as the School District Board of Directors has adopted the District budget for the ensuing school year. This is not a guarantee of employment, but rather it is a commitment to limit the use of outside contractors to times when the Core Group of employees are working. As an exception to the foregoing commitment not to subcontract unless all of the Core Group of employees are working, the District may still subcontract if any of the following conditions occur:

- 1. The required services are uncommon to District employees because they are special, highly technical, peculiar or unique in character.
- 2. The required services involve the use of equipment or materials not possessed by the District at the time and place required.
- 3. When the services of a contractor are necessary for health and safety reasons.

There shall be no restriction on subcontracting any work at any time under any conditions which is above the bid threshold established by law or under any circumstance where the District is required to comply with applicable law.

#### B. SMALL WORKS PROCESS AND PROCEDURES

- 1. All projects, at or below the self-performance threshold established by law and District policy (75K) in combined labor and material estimated costs ("Small Works") will be presented to the Management for consideration of accomplishment by the Maintenance Section. If the project is work that can be accomplished without special tools or equipment, the Maintenance Section needs to rent or purchase and the current staff has the ability to complete the task or the Maintenance Section can hire itinerant staff with the requestor's timeline and without expected overtime, the Maintenance Section will have the first right of refusal. Management will advise the requestor within twenty-four (24) hours whether the project can be done as presented or if additional information is needed to consider the project for completion. Upon presentation of the additional information this time period may be extended two (2) weeks. The proposed project must be specified to a point that it is possible to estimate resources and time necessary for completion of the project Management will discuss any project that he or she is considering rejecting with the Unit Foreperson before making a decision to pass over a project. Management reserves the right to retain Building Trades work to be performed by bargaining unit personnel when necessary for scheduling and/or cost efficiencies.
- 2. In compliance with The State of Washington's requirement regarding prevailing wages and the District's regular requirements for the safety and health of students and staff members all

construction supervisors, construction personnel and contractors and all their subcontractors of whatever tier involved in small works shall be fingerprinted and submit to background checks.

- 3. The District Maintenance Manager will be advised on a weekly basis of all projects considered for Small Works assignment and receive copies of any specifications or instructions. The Maintenance Section will be provided with copies of purchase orders or contracts for Small Works Projects. Upon completion of purchase orders or contracts for Small Works Projects, the Maintenance Manager will be notified of completion. The District will provide quarterly reports at the Labor Management Meetings.
- 4. Every project shall be subject to final inspection by the Project Manager or General Foreperson as appropriate. Final payment on the project will not be released until inspection is complete and all concerns are answered to the District's satisfaction.
- 5. Contractors who receive a contract shall not sub-contract out their work unless the work being subbed out is directly specified as a specialty trade assignment, not to exceed forty (40%) of the project. All requests for subs shall be written and submitted to the HUBS/Small Works Manager for approval. The use of Labor Brokers shall not be permitted.
- 6. Responsible Small Works Contractors shall meet the following responsibility criteria at the time the quote/bid is submitted and before being awarded a Small Works contract:
  - The contractor must be registered under RCW 18.27.
  - The contractor must have a current state unified business identifier number.
  - The contractor must have a worker's compensation coverage.
  - The contractor must have a Department of Employment Security number.
  - The contractor must have a state excise tax registration number.
- 7. After being awarded a Small Works Contract, but prior to the beginning of work, the contractor must provide proof of a filing of a Washington State Intent to pay Prevailing Wage Report.

#### ARTICLE IV: MAINTENANCE OF MEMBERSHIP

- A. **Membership Rights –** All employees working in the bargaining unit shall have the right to become a union member upon hire. The District, including supervisors and managers, agrees to direct all questions and communication from unit employees regarding union membership directly to the union.
- B. **Notice** The District shall advise the Council and applicable Union of the names, addresses, phone numbers, work email address, job classification, FTE status and work location, of new District employees covered by this Agreement within seven (7) calendar days following the date of employment.
- C. New Employee Orientation, Union Presentation Not less than five (5) working days before a new employee orientation, the District shall forward to the Union a list of names, with craft designation, of bargaining unit employees who shall be attending. The District shall also provide at least thirty (30) minutes for new hires into the bargaining unit to meet with the Union's designated representative during the employee's normally scheduled new hire orientation with the District.
- D. Automatic Payroll Deduction Upon receipt of written authorization individually signed by the employee, the District will deduct from the pay of such employee the amount of dues and initiation fees as certified by the Union. The District shall transmit such fees to the Union once each month on behalf of the members involved.

An employee may cancel their payroll deduction of dues and fees by written notice to the Union and to the District, with the District stopping deductions following written confirmation from the Union that

the employee dues/fees authorization has been terminated in compliance with the terms of the written authorization executed by the employee. The District will make every effort to end the automatic dues deduction effective on the first pay period but no later than the second pay period after receipt of the written cancellation notice.

- E. **Hold Harmless** The Union will indemnify, defend and hold the District harmless against any claims made, and against any suit instituted against the District on account of any check-off dues. The Union agrees to refund to the District any amounts paid to it in error on account of the check-off provision upon presentation of proper evidence thereof.
- F. **Public Records Request –** When the District received a public records request that is specific to an employee's personnel records, the District will inform the employee of the request. When the District received a public records request pertaining to the bargaining unit and/or Union membership as a whole, the District shall notify the Union as soon as possible after the District's Labor and Employee Relations department received the request.

#### **ARTICLE V: REPRESENTATION**

- A. The Business Manager and/or Union Representative of a union signatory to this Agreement may appoint or elect a Steward among the employees that the union represents under this Agreement. The affected Local Union bylaws shall be the basis for the procedure of the election and/or appointment of the Union's Steward. Each Local Union shall provide the Maintenance Manager with the name of its Steward. A Steward shall not be discriminated against for making a complaint or giving evidence with respect to an alleged violation of any provision of this Agreement, but under no circumstances shall a Steward interfere with orders of the District or change working conditions.
- B. The Council may elect two Employee Representatives from among the entire bargaining unit to attend regular Labor Management Committee meetings between the Council and the District. The election of the Employee Representatives shall be by secret ballot. The Labor Management Committee shall continue efforts to discourage and prevent harassing, abusive and/or disruptive behavior by and among employees at work.

#### **ARTICLE VI: DEFINITIONS**

A. **Employees:** For the purpose of this Agreement "Employee" shall mean a person employed by the District in one of the classifications listed in Appendix A.

#### B. Regular Employees:

- 1. Employees who are actively on the payroll and normally assigned to work twelve (12) months per year, forty (40) hours per week and eight (8) hours per day.
- 2. A regular employee may be so designated at the time of hire or will become a regular employee upon successfully completing five (5) months of employment in any consecutive twelve (12) month period with a minimum of seventy (70) hours of regular time in each of those months. Upon becoming a regular employee such employee shall be awarded seniority rights retroactive to their original date of hire as a temporary employee. Such employee shall serve a probationary period as outlined in Article XIV-A.
- 3. Any employee hired as a regular employee who is laid off prior to completing the five (5) months/seventy (70) hours condition shall be granted health and welfare benefits as though such employee had initially been employed as described in Article VII-C.
- 4. Annual Leave and Sick/Emergency Leave rights shall be granted retroactive to the first date of the qualifying period for any/all employees achieving regular employee status.

- C. Temporary Employees: A temporary employee shall be hired on a short-term basis and shall only accrue health and welfare benefits as described in Article XVII-B (Group Insurance). All temporary employees hired by the District shall be paid an hourly rate as shown in Appendix A. Such temporary employees shall not acquire seniority and shall be subject to termination at any time without recourse to the grievance procedure.
- D. **Apprentice Employees:** Apprentices are those workers who are registered with the State of Washington according to RCW 49.04 and are participating in a State approved training program administered by a joint labor-management committee.
- E. Management as used in the CBA, refers to non-represented staff who have budget authority, responsibility to direct work to meet department goals, and are within the District's direct line management structure.

#### ARTICLE VII: HOURS AND OVERTIME

- A. **General Expectations:** The ability to work regularly is a requirement of continued employment. Employees must report all absences to his or her supervisor before the beginning of the employee's scheduled shift except in the case of an emergency.
- B. **Normal Work Schedule:** For regular employees, the normal work schedule Monday-Friday, will be forty (40) hours per week, eight (8) hours per day between the hours of 6:00 a.m. and 6:00 p.m., excluding a one-half (1/2) hour lunch period five (5) days per week. This shall not be construed as being a guarantee by the District of any particular number of hours.

#### C. Overtime:

- 1. When an employee is compensated in excess of eight (8) hours per day or in excess of forty (40) hours per week, the employee shall be compensated for the overtime at the rate of one and one-half (1-1/2) times his/her regular rate of pay.
- 2. Work performed on Sundays and holidays shall be compensated at double time the employee's regular rate of pay.
- 3. No pyramiding of overtime shall be allowed.
- 4. All overtime must be authorized in advance by Management or the management-designated supervisor.
- 5. The Foreperson may assign mandatory overtime.
- 6. When an employee is called out to work without at least eight (8) hours off since his/her previous shift, all such call out time shall be paid at the overtime rate until he/she has had eight (8) hours off.
- 7. Employees on paid leave status do not qualify for the assignment of overtime work.

#### D. Special Premium Pay:

1. A premium of two dollars and fifty cents (\$2.50) shall be paid for employees that start work on a second shift after 11:00AM except for work performed on an overtime basis as an extension of a day shift employee. Employees assigned to work second shift will continue to receive the second shift two dollars and fifty cents (\$2.50) premium for temporary day shift assignments of two (2) weeks or less. Those employees who are assigned a Monday through Friday shift shall receive

time and one-half (1-1/2) for all Saturday work; those employees assigned a Tuesday through Saturday shift shall receive a premium of two dollars and fifty cents (\$2.50) for all Saturday work.

- 2. The Sprinkler Fitter position requires a licensed Sprinkler Fitter and an AS1 Certification Test, and shall have a \$4.00 an hour stipend, paid exclusively when performing Sprinkler Fitter duties, as long as the Sprinkler Fitter's AS1 certification is current. If at any time AS1 Certification lapses, the stipend will be removed effective 30 calendar days from the date of license expiration. This stipend will not cascade to higher positions and will not be considered part of the rate for highest journeyperson supervised. Should the Seattle Fire Department standard with respect to AS1 certification cease to exist, such that certification is no longer required, the additional duties and stipend will cease upon written or electronic notification to the Sprinkler Fitter in the position at the time the requirement ceases. Duties of the Sprinkler Fitter position include quarterly and semi-annual sprinkler inspections as required by the Seattle Fire Department. Added responsibilities include:
  - Installing, maintaining, and testing SPS sprinkler systems to assure they meet AS1 Certification requirements;
  - After hours emergency response is required, as needed.
- 3. Two (2) District plumbers will be assigned the Backflow Assembly Tester ("BAT") duties. The BAT positions will be offered to current FTE status District plumbers using district seniority in the plumbers as the selection criterion. An individual who does not want to be tested and certified as a BAT gives up the right to that opportunity, until a BAT position opens up in the future. Individuals who hold the required BAT certification and are selected to perform the BAT positions will receive a \$4.00 per hour stipend. This stipend will not cascade to higher positions and will not be considered part of the rate for highest journeyperson supervised. If more than two (2) District plumbers have a BAT certification, only the two employees who designated to be part of the BAT position will receive the stipend.
- 4. One existing Electrician position within Electrician classification will be designated to complete additional duties that include annual maintenance and testing of emergency generator systems as required by the City of Seattle. This position requires a Washington State licensed (EL-01) Electrician and a current EG-1 Certification. The added responsibilities include:
  - Installation, Maintenance and confidence testing of electrical systems related to emergency generators EG-1 requirements;
  - After hours emergency response as required.

Parties agree that I.B.E.W. 46 District Electricians be assigned the responsibility to repair and inspect electric generators installed in District buildings.

The parties agree that the EG-1 Electrician shall receive an additional \$4.00 an hour stipend for all hours performing emergency electric generator work. There shall be a minimum of two (2) hours per electric generator work assignment and stipend pay period. This stipend will not cascade to higher positions and will not be considered part of the rate for highest journeyperson supervised, nor shall it be subject to pyramiding for the purpose of overtime calculations. Should the City of Seattle standard be changed or modified to remove the annual maintenance and testing of emergency generators requirement, the additional duties and stipend will immediately cease upon notification to the current incumbent in the position.

E. **Refusal of Assignment Outside Regular Hours:** In assigning work for swing shift, the employer will first ask for volunteers; if enough people do not volunteer, the employer will assign people in inverse seniority order. If a significant hardship is created by assigning an employee to swing shift, the employer will review and verify the circumstances with the Union, and where appropriate, the employer will pass over this employee and assign the next least senior employee.

If there are more volunteers than available for swing shift positions for a particular craft, those volunteers with the most seniority within the craft and with the required skill within the craft shall be assigned to the available positions except in situations where the more senior volunteer within the craft has a skill/expertise and/or performs a special function as part of his/her regular duties for which the District determines it will retain that employee on other than the swing shift.

F. **Call Back:** Any employee who is required to return to work after the end of his/her regular shift shall be paid a minimum of four (4) hours pay at his/her appropriate rate.

In situations where the employee does not have to return to work (work on line), the employee will be compensated for time worked at one and one-half (1 ½) times the individual employee's hourly rate of pay for regular shift; time will be rounded up to the nearest 15 minute period with a 90 minute minimum. If called back by management while on approved vacation or personal leave the work time will be paid at double the employee's regular rate of pay.

General Forepersons who take weekend calls for the Senior General Foreman for two (2) days or less shall be paid a stipend of fifty dollars (\$50.00) per day. Saturday 12:00 AM – 11:59 PM and Sunday 12:00 AM – 11:59 PM constitute the hours of weekend call. The daily stipend is in addition to the compensation for time worked contained above.

- G. **Show Up Pay:** Any employee called to work shall be paid a minimum of two (2) hours at appropriate rate of pay.
- H. **Lunch Period:** The District shall establish a regular non-paid lunch period for each employee. In the event an employee is required to perform work beyond five (5) hours without lunch the employee shall receive one-half (1/2) hour penalty pay at the applicable overtime rate and shall also receive time to eat.

#### I. Four Ten Hour Day Shifts (4-10's):

- Four Ten Hour Shifts (4-10's) may be scheduled, so long as the District provides at least seven (7) days advance notice. Prior to termination of the four-ten hour shift schedule, the District shall provide at least seven (7) days advance notice. Management reserves the right to decline 4-10 shifts for positions required to work a traditional five day/8 hour day schedule due to coverage and/or operational needs.
- 2. The following conditions shall apply specifically to the four-ten hour shifts:
  - a. Overtime shall be paid after ten (10) hours in a day or forty (40) in one week.
  - b. Holidays: During a holiday week, the employees shall revert to an eight (8) hour day. Holiday pay shall be paid at eight (8) hours per day.
  - c. Leave Accruals: Employees who are working four-ten hour shifts (4X10's) shall earn (accrue) the same number of total annual hours for annual leave, sick leave, holiday pay, personal leave, and bereavement leave. Example: an employee working five (5) days per week and who has two (2) years service earns eighty (80) hours of annual leave. If that employee goes to work on a 4X10 schedule, he/she shall earn (accrue) eighty (80) hours of annual leave. Employees shall not earn (accrue) more leave or less leave than if they were on an eight (8) hour day schedule.
  - d. Taking Leave: Employees who work ten (10) hour days shall be paid and be charged ten (10) hours per day for sick leave, personal leave, annual leave, and bereavement leave. Employees shall not earn more leave or less leave than if they were on an eight (8) hour day schedule.

3. If enough volunteers cannot be found to work this 4-10 schedule, employees shall be assigned by reverse seniority within each craft and skill within a craft.

If there are more volunteers than available 4-10's position for a particular craft, those volunteers with the most seniority within the craft and with the required skill within the craft shall be assigned to the available positions except in situations where the more senior volunteer within the craft has a skill/expertise and/or performs a special function as part of his/her regular duties for which the District determines it will retain that employee on other than the 4-10's shift.

J. Shift Change: The District shall give seven (7) days advance notice prior to changing a shift. The District shall be permitted, through mutual agreement, to adjust shifts. At the District's discretion, employees requesting to adjust their start time may be granted with one (1) day notice.

#### **ARTICLE VIII: HOLIDAYS**

A. The following are paid holidays for all regular employees regardless of the day of the week on which they fall:

Labor Day Veterans' Day Thanksgiving Day Day after Thanksgiving Christmas Eve Christmas Day Day After Christmas New Years' Eve New Year's Day Martin Luther King Day Presidents' Day Memorial Day Independence Day

- B. The District shall pay each regular employee at his/her straight-time hourly base rate not to exceed eight (8) hours for each of the above designated holidays when not worked. In order to qualify for holiday pay, an employee must have worked his/her last scheduled workday before and his/her first scheduled workday after the holiday. Exception will be made in cases where absence on the workday prior to or the workday following was due to annual leave, injury, bona fide illness covered by a doctor's certificate, or temporary layoff of less than thirty (30) days.
- C. The actual days observed shall be as designated on the calendar adopted by the School Board.

#### **ARTICLE IX: LEAVES**

#### A. ANNUAL LEAVE:

1. Each year, regular employees, upon their employment anniversary dates, shall be entitled to paid Annual Leave corresponding to the following schedule:

Years of Service	Annual Leave
0-4 Years	13 Days or 104 Hours
5-14 Years	18 Days or 144 Hours
15- 18 Years	23 Days or 184 Hours
19+ Years	28 Days or 224 Hours

- 2. Such Annual Leave entitlement shall be prorated where unpaid absences exceed thirty (30) days in the twelve (12) months preceding the anniversary date.
- 3. Current employees shall be credited with Annual Leave based on their length of service.

- 4. No Annual Leave can be taken before earned.
- 5. Annual Leave days to a limit of thirty (30) may be cashed out at time of termination. No employee or his/her estate shall receive reimbursement for more than thirty (30) Annual Leave days at time of termination. Any balance over thirty (30) days may be applied to scheduled Annual Leave prior to termination.
- 6. The scheduling of Annual Leave days shall be at the discretion of Management, and the employee, based on operational needs.
  - a. In establishing vacation schedules, it is not possible to grant all employees the annual leave period requested. Each craft must retain enough staff to cover anticipated operational needs, as supporting District needs is of prime importance. Management will work with employees who are in a "use it or lose it" situation.
  - b. An employee's annual leave request will be provided to the direct supervisor and Management in writing thirty (30) days in advance for leaves three (3) days or longer in duration. Leaves that are submitted less than twenty-one (21) days in advance may not be granted. Leave approval or denial will be made by the district within five (5) working days. Vacation conflicts will initially be worked out between employees within the same unit. It may not be possible to grant all employees the annual leave they would prefer. If an agreement cannot be reached, information will be reviewed by their direct supervisor, senior General Foreperson, and Management to determine the schedule.
- 7. Maximum accumulation is limited to 240 hours. Employees must eliminate accumulated leave in excess of 240 hours each fiscal year (September-August). Such employees will be required to submit a plan for approval by their supervisor for eliminating excess leave by this deadline. Any unused leave in excess of 240 hours each fiscal year (September-August) will be reclaimed by the District.

#### B. SICK LEAVE:

1. Each regular employee shall earn Sick Leave equivalent to one (1) day for each calendar month of service or major fraction thereof to be used for absences caused by non-occupational illness, non-occupational injury, medical disability (including childbearing), poor health, or child care to the extent required by law. Use of such leave shall be set forth in Items a and b below. In the event there is an emergency caused by family illness, where no reasonable alternative is available to the employee, Sick Leave may be used subject to the conditions set forth for Personal Leave (X-C).

Temporary workers shall accrue and use sick leave in accordance with Washington state Sick Leave Law.

- a. Use of Sick Leave shall be reported to the employee's supervisor prior to the start of the work shift and will become effective upon the first day of absence.
- b. A physician's certificate or other verification of illness or injury may be required for approval of Sick Leave, if the employee has called in sick for more than three (3) consecutive days. Other verification of illness or injury may include an employee's statement explaining the unreasonable burden or expense of producing a physician's certificate.
- c. After the fifth (5th) consecutive day of absence, a physician's certification of illness will be required without diagnosis.

2. Accumulation: Employees shall be allowed to accumulate up to one hundred eighty (180) days of Sick Leave or as may be amended by State law.

#### 3. Sick Leave Buy Back Program:

- a. At the time of eligible separation from District employment, an eligible employee or the employee's estate shall be entitled, upon written request to Human Resources, to compensation for all unused Sick Leave up to the one-thousand four-hundred and forty (1,440) hour maximum at the ratio of 4:1 at his/her straight time hourly rate. Alternatively, if/when the District offers VEBA III or other qualifying program; the District will discuss such programs with the Council.
- b. On or about January 15 of each year, employees may elect to be compensated at the ratio of a rate equal to one (1) day's monetary compensation of the employee for each four (4) full days of accrued Sick Leave in excess of sixty (60) days which was earned but unused during the previous calendar year.

#### C. PERSONAL LEAVE:

1. Two (2) days [one (1) day if hired on or after March 1] of Personal Leave shall be available per fiscal year (September 1 through August 31) to regular employees for hardships or other pressing needs and will be granted in situations which require absence during working hours for purposes of transacting or attending to personal or legal business or family matters. Such days shall not accumulate from year to year.

#### 2. Personal Leave should be used as follows:

- a. The situation must have been suddenly precipitated and must be of such nature that preplanning was not possible, or such that pre-planning could not have eliminated the need for the leave; and,
- b. The situation must be one which is serious and unavoidable and of major importance, not one of mere convenience.

#### D. BEREAVEMENT LEAVE:

- 1. In cases of death in the immediate family the employee will be allowed up to three (3) days Bereavement Leave. In cases where emergency factors or long distances are involved, the employee may request up to two (2) additional days leave.
  - a. Such requests should be sent to the employee's foreperson who shall submit it to the Maintenance Manager for approval.
  - b. For the purpose of Bereavement Leave, immediate family is defined to include mother, father, sister, brother, husband, wife, son, daughter, son-in-law, daughter-in-law, mother-in-law, father-in-law, brother-in-law, sister-in-law, grandchild, grandparent, aunt, uncle, or anyone who is living with, or considered part of, the family.
- 2. Bereavement Leave will be granted only for days immediately following the death and days directly linked to a formal observance of the death (e.g., a funeral or memorial service).
- 3. The employee requesting Bereavement Leave may be required to provide verification.

#### E. JURY DUTY AND COURT APPEARANCES:

1. Employees may serve as jurors in accordance with State and Federal laws.

- 2. Requests for Jury Duty for the necessary temporary leave shall be made in writing to the employee's foreperson, who shall submit it to the Maintenance Manager for approval.
- 3. Employees who serve as jurors during the work year shall receive full pay.
- 4. When an employee is subpoenaed to appear as a witness in a court proceeding during a normal work day on the District's behalf or as a witness in a proceeding in which the employee has no personal interest, the employee shall receive his/her regular pay for the day, provided that a copy of the subpoena is provided to the District. This provision does not apply where the employee's appearance is adversarial to District interests.

#### F. UNPAID LEAVES:

The District does not grant unpaid leaves of absence or voluntary days off without pay except in unusual circumstances. Requests must be submitted in writing to the department manager and be approved before any leave of absence begins.

#### G. SHARED LEAVE:

The District agrees to maintain a leave sharing plan that conforms to the law.

#### H. MILITARY LEAVE:

The District will comply with Federal and State statutes.

I. FAMILY AND MEDICAL LEAVE ACT (FMLA):

The District will comply with current Federal and State statutes.

J. WASHINGTON PAID FAMILY MEDICAL LEAVE ACT (WPFMLA)

The Employer shall comply with the requirements of the Washington Paid Family and Medical Leave Act (WPFMLA) and for the term of this Agreement shall deduct employee contributions per State Plan requirements. The Employer agrees to negotiate the impacts and/or effects of any changes to the WPFMLA that occur after ratification of this Agreement and that affect employees' working conditions, to the extent permitted by law.

#### K. WORK AVAILABILITY INCENTIVE

In order to maximize the availability of Building Trades employees during the period that schools are most accessible, five hundred and forty seven dollars and six cents (\$547.06) workload availability incentive will be paid to all regular employees who do not use any leave during the period of August 1 through September 10. Starting in the school year immediately preceding the ratification of this Agreement, the incentive will be increased annually by the state-funded and authorized inflationary adjustment that year. The incentive will be on the eligible employees' November paycheck following the incentive period each year. To be eligible to receive this incentive, an employee must be employed with the District and be a regular status or full-time temporary employee prior to July 1 of the incentive period. Management agrees to review exceptional circumstances if an employee has taken leave during the eligibility period and requests review prior to taking leave if possible and no later than five (5) working days after returning to work. Management will provide notice within five (5) working days from the date request received if a requested exception is not approved. If Management does not provide notice within five (5) working days, the exception is approved. A list of employees who did not qualify for payment will be reviewed with the Union prior to the incentive payment.

#### ARTICLE X: INJURY WHILE ON DUTY

- A. Absence due to an injury incurred on or around School District premises in the course of the employee's employment, or as a direct result of the employee performing his/her duty, shall be compensated as follows:
  - 1. State Medical Aid and/or compensation shall be paid upon validation of a claim by the Washington State Department of Labor and Industries and the Seattle School District in accordance with the Industrial Insurance Laws of the State of Washington, provided:
    - a. The employee shall promptly submit a Worker's Compensation Claim with the assistance of the designated District Office; and,
    - b. The employee provides to the designated District office monthly physician reports verifying continuation of the disability which prevents the employee from performing his/her duties.
    - c. An employee who suffers an injury must report any injury, no matter how slight.
  - 2. In the instance of an injury described above, an employee shall be entitled to such benefits in accordance with the Industrial Insurance Laws of the State of Washington.
- B. The employee may elect to exercise the option of not using earned Annual Leave or Sick Leave to supplement time loss payments. Employees may elect to utilize earned Annual Leave or Sick Leave, in hourly increments, to supplement time loss payments to ensure that the employee receives his/her regular net pay.

#### **ARTICLE XI: RATES OF PAY**

#### A. Payroll Schedules:

- 1. Regular Employees shall be paid monthly.
- 2. Temporary Employees shall be paid twice per month.
- 3. If regular employees are laid off, they will be paid off within ten (10) days of the layoff date.
- 4. All employees will be required to have direct deposit. Extenuating circumstance exceptions will be made on a case by case basis.
- B. **Rate Protection:** As a result of signing this Agreement, no current employee shall have his/her hourly rate reduced below the level currently paid to a journeyperson.

#### C. Lead Rates:

- 1. District Management shall appoint a Senior General Foreperson for Critical Maintenance. Senior General Foreperson pay shall be reflected in Appendix A.
- 2. The District shall appoint a General Foreperson when four (4) or more employees are. directly assigned to work for them and/or have the following responsibilities: supervision of the workers and or contractor, material requisition, planning and scheduling, approve employee payroll and work order item; provides electrical, structural, mechanical, etc. expertise; knowledge of codes. The General Foreperson pay shall be reflected in Appendix A.
- 3. District Management shall appoint a Foreperson for work orders and or projects requiring multiple employees and the duration of the work is estimated to exceed two (2) weeks and/or have the following responsibilities: supervision of the scope of work, material requisition, planning and

scheduling. The Foreperson pay shall be reflected in Appendix A. In the event that mutual agreement on the need for supervisor staffing cannot be reached between the general foreperson and first-line management, the matter may be taken up by the Union with the Director of Facilities or designee.

- 4. If a Senior General Foreperson, General Foreperson, or Foreperson is absent for three (3) or more working days, District Management shall appoint a temporary Senior General Foreperson, General Foreperson or Foreperson to replace him/her. District Management may appoint a temporary Senior General Foreperson or General Foreperson or Foreperson for absences of less than three (3) days.
- 5. The Foreperson or General Foreperson or Senior General Foreperson will be compensated for all hours worked at the Foreperson's, General Foreperson's or Senior General Foreperson's hourly rate of pay as assigned, including work during an overtime period and for any paid holidays occurring after the temporary assignment is made. Any other hours on a paid leave status occurring during the period of the temporary assignment will be compensated at the individual's regular rate of pay.
- 6. If the temporary assignment is the result of a vacancy which the District intends to fill, the District barring unforeseen circumstances will make a good faith effort to make a selection and fill the vacancy via a regular appointment within thirty (30) working days.
- 7. The temporary Foreperson or General Foreperson or Senior General Foreperson will assume the same responsibilities of a regular Foreperson or General Foreperson or Senior General Foreperson and will be expected to establish work plans, dispatch individual workers and crews; review and sign timesheets, as appropriate; prepare requisitions and approve invoices, respond to emergencies as required of this position, keep good relations with schools and staff. A temporary Foreperson will not be assigned when the project or work order is less than required per C: Lead Rates. If a temporary Foreperson is to be reduced back to their regular position, notice will be given to them prior to reduction implementation.

#### D. Rates of Pay:

- 1. Prior to implementing the general wage increases described below, the District will add the following dollar amounts to specific classifications:
  - a. Electricians (does not include FA1 electrician): \$2.50 per hour.
- 2. The 2019-2020 rates of pay shall be the same as the 2018-2019 rates of pay increased by five and four-tenths (5.4%). The increase shall be reflected in the salary schedule in Appendix A;
  - The 2020-2021 rates of pay shall be the 2019-2020 rates of pay increased by two and one-tenths percent (2.1%), or the state funded and authorized inflationary increase, whichever is higher.
- 3. The 2021-2022 rates of pay shall be the 2020-2021 rates of pay increased by two percent (2%), or the state funded and authorized inflationary increase, whichever is higher. The increase shall be reflected in the salary schedule in Appendix A.
- 4. In the event the State of Washington reduces salary or benefits for school district classified staff, the parties agree that reductions may be imposed. However, prior to the implementation of reductions, the District will discuss with the Seattle/King County Building and Construction Trades Council/Union the manner in which the reductions may be imposed. If the parties cannot agree, the subject of imposed decreases will be treated as a negotiable matter.

#### E. Overpayment retrieval:

- 1. Salary overpayments due to error shall be repaid in accordance with RCW 49.48.200. RCW 49.48.200 incorporates RCW 49.48.210 for recoupment of overpayments.
- 2. When the District determines that a Union member was overpaid wages, the District shall notify the Union member's Union representative of the amount believed to be overpaid, and provide any documentation supporting or establishing the overpayment. Before beginning the recoupment process set forth in RCW 49.48.200 and RCW 49.48.210, the District and the Union representative shall negotiate the amount of overpayment and repayment schedule. The District will not bargain directly with any Union members during the process.

#### **ARTICLE XII: PENSION**

#### A. Regular Employees:

- 1. The District shall provide the required contributions to the Public Employees Retirement System or School Employee's Retirement System, as appropriate, for regular employees only.
- 2. Regular employees shall not be eligible for District contribution to any other pension plan except as provided under Article VII-B-3.

#### B. Temporary Employees:

- 1. The District may as a matter of the recruitment process extend pension contribution as needed or allowable by law.
- 2. The District shall not be obligated to provide Public Employees Retirement System or School Employees Retirement System contributions to temporary employees except when a temporary employee has attained regular employee status as provided in Article VII-B-2.

#### **ARTICLE XIII: SENIORITY**

- A. **Probationary Period:** Newly hired employees to employment in the bargaining unit and/or employees who have been rehired to employment in the bargaining unit shall complete a five (5) month probationary period. At the conclusion of such probationary period, the employee will be considered a regular employee and credited with seniority for service time from his/her initial date of hire less any time not spent working in the bargaining unit.
  - 1. Temporary employment, worked without a break in service of no more than one hundred and eighty (180) calendar days prior to regular appointment, counts toward the five (5) month probationary period when the employee is hired into a regular position or attains regular employee status as provided in Article VII-B-2.
  - 2. A break in service shall not be created for the sole purpose of creating an additional probationary period or to prevent a temporary employee from attaining regular employee status.
- B. **Determination of Seniority:** In determining seniority, no deductions shall be made because of illness, accident, layoff or leave of absence when such time off does not exceed twenty-four (24) months.
- C. Loss of Seniority: Any employee shall lose seniority under this Agreement for the following reasons:
  - 1. Voluntary termination as a member of the bargaining unit.
  - Discharge for cause.

- 3. Failure to return to work within five (5) days after receipt of written notice of recall from layoff. The District shall be responsible to provide such written notice to the employee with a copy to the Council. Receipt of notice by the Council begins the five (5) working day recall period.
- 4. Failure to return to work promptly after an unauthorized leave of absence.
- 5. Layoff for a period of twenty-four (24) months or longer, less time not spent working for the District.
- 6. It shall be the employee's responsibility to keep the union and District informed of current address and telephone numbers.

#### D. Layoff Notification:

- 1. Employees with three (3) years of continuous service shall be given two (2) week's notice prior to layoff. Other employees shall be notified one (1) hour prior to layoff.
- 2. Employees acting in a Foreperson/General Foreperson role and shop stewards for the specific craft shall be advised of layoffs of supervised employees at the start of shifts in which the layoffs will take effect.
- E. **Short Calls:** The Union's signatory hereto shall allow the District, if it chooses, to use short calls of ten (10) days or less for the purpose of eliminating the waiting period created by a seniority recall order.
- F. **Determination of Layoffs and Recalls:** The District and the Council agree that length of service and skills required shall determine layoffs and recalls.
- G. **Military Service:** An employee called into military service shall not lose any seniority to which entitled under the law.
- H. **Temporary Employees:** Temporary employees shall not be used to replace regular employees with seniority unless those regular employees with seniority are unavailable as defined in Article XIV-C.

#### ARTICLE XIV: PERFORMANCE EVALUATION AND PERFORMANCE IMPROVEMENT PLAN

- A. Performance evaluations will be conducted as follows:
  - 1. All new hires will receive performance expectations at the start of their probationary period.
  - 2. Each employee shall be evaluated at least once prior to completion of the probationary period. The appropriate union representative may request feedback on any employee discharged prior to the conclusion of the probationary period.
  - 3. Regular employees shall be evaluated annually on or before the employee's anniversary date and will be provided a copy of their evaluation; employees will review performance expectations as part of the annual performance evaluation process.
  - 4. Employee's direct supervisor will be responsible for completing the evaluation. All evaluations will be reviewed by the direct supervisor and management prior to issuance.
  - 5. Employees who disagree with their evaluation may provide a written rebuttal, arrange to meet with the direct supervisor, Senior General Foreperson and Management for discussion or file a grievance if it pertains to process only.

- B. The performance evaluation will be developed and/or updated through the Labor/Management Committee.
- C. The Maintenance Manager will be responsible for implementing and carrying out a performance improvement plan for employees who have been placed on said improvement plan through the regular evaluation process.
- D. When an employee is placed on a performance improvement plan, he/she will receive a letter which will identify the specific:
  - 1. Issues which necessitated implementation of a performance improvement plan;
  - 2. Areas in which the employee must demonstrate sustained improvement; and consequences for failure to do so;
  - 3. Time period by which the employee will demonstrate improvement and
  - 4. The process for monitoring performance during that period.
- E. The Council will receive quarterly reports on performance improvement plans through the Labor/Management Committee.

#### ARTICLE XV: DISCIPLINE AND DISCHARGE OF EMPLOYEES

- A. Employees and supervisors are encouraged to resolve matters concerning discipline through informal processes. Employees are entitled to Union Representation at meetings which may result in disciplinary action.
- B. No regular (non-probationary) employee shall be disciplined except for just cause. Generally, discipline shall be progressive in nature. Examples of discipline include, but are not limited to, oral and written reprimands, suspensions and termination.
- C. Prior to suspensions or terminations, Management shall demonstrate to the appropriate Union representative any previous discipline or direction given to the employee.

#### ARTICLE XVI: GROUP INSURANCE

A. Group insurance will be provided through the School Employees Benefits Board (SEBB) effective January 1, 2020.

Benefits offered through SEBB include:

- Basic Life and accidental death and dismemberment insurance (AD&D)
- Basic Long-term Disability
- Vision
- Dental, including orthodontia
- Medical Plan

Employees are eligible to participate in the Medical Flexible Spending Arrangement (FSA) and Dependent Care Assistance Program (DCAP) offered by SEBB. Employees will also have the option of enrolling in a Health Savings Account (HSA) when they select a qualifying High Deductible Plan (HDHP) for their medical insurance. In addition, employees will be able to utilize payroll deduction for any supplemental insurance that they choose to enroll in through SEBB (e.g., increased Life, AD&D, Long term disability, etc.).

To the extent that SEBB modifies, adds to, or removes any of the benefits described above, the District will comply, as required by State law. The District agrees to bargain any effects from modifications, to the extent permitted by law.

- B. Consistent with the SEBB program, eligibility for District-paid benefits will be determined by the District prior to every school year based on the District's anticipation that the employee will work at least 630 compensated hours per school year.
- C. The Union shall have the right to designate one representative to any District constituted Group Insurance Review committee, to the extent that such a committee is established.
- D. Temporary employees who are ineligible for SEBB insurance benefits will receive an additional one dollar and fifty cents per hour (\$1.50) in lieu of employer-funded insurance benefits.

#### ARTICLE XVII: GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE

- A. The purpose of this procedure is to provide a means for the orderly and expeditious adjustment of grievances.
- B. Any dispute between the District and the Council concerning the interpretation, application or violation of the express terms of this Agreement shall be deemed a contract grievance.
- C. A contract grievance on behalf of a majority of the employees in the bargaining unit shall be reduced to writing by the Union and may be introduced at Step 3 of the contract grievance procedure and be processed with the time limits set forth herein.
- D. Any time limits stipulated in the grievance procedure may be extended for stated periods of time by the appropriate parties by mutual agreement in writing.
- E. Failure of the District to respond within the time limits, as specified, allows for the grievant or the Council to proceed to the next step.
- F. Arbitration awards or grievance settlements shall not be made retroactive beyond the date of the occurrence or non-occurrence upon which the grievance is based; that date being thirty (30) calendar days or less prior to the initial filing of the grievance.
- G. A contract grievance shall be processed in accordance with the following procedure:

**Informal Step:** A grievant shall first take up a complaint or problem with the appropriate supervisor in a private informal conference. Every effort should be made by the grievant and the appropriate supervisor to settle the grievance at this level.

**Step 1:** If the grievant is dissatisfied with the results of the informal conference with the appropriate supervisor, a contract grievance shall be presented by the Union Representative on a Grievance Review Request Form (See Appendix B) to the immediate supervisor of the aggrieved employee within ten (10) working days of the alleged contract violation. The parties shall make every effort to settle the contract grievance at this stage promptly. The immediate supervisor shall consult with and/or meet with the Union Representative, and respond to the grievance in writing within ten (10) working days.

**Step 2:** If the contract grievance is not resolved as provided in Step 1, the Union Representative shall forward the grievance to the Director of Facilities or designee within ten (10) working days after receipt of the Step 1 answer. The Director of Facilities or designee shall thereafter convene a meeting within ten (10) working days between the Union Representative and aggrieved employee, together with the designated supervisor, the Section Manager and any other members of management whose presence is deemed necessary by the District to a fair consideration of the

alleged contract grievance. The Director of Facilities or designee shall give a written answer to the Union within ten (10) working days after the contract grievance meeting.

**Step 3:** If the contract grievance is not settled in Step 2, the Union may refer the issue to the American Arbitration Association for arbitration to be conducted under its voluntary labor arbitration regulations. Such reference to arbitration shall be made within thirty (30) calendar days after the answer in Step 2, and shall be accompanied by the following information:

- Identification of section(s) of Agreement allegedly violated as presented in Step 2 or mutually amended;
- 2. Nature of the alleged violation as presented in Step 3 or mutually amended;
- 3. Question(s) which the arbitrator is being asked to decide; and
- 4. Remedy sought.
- H. The parties shall abide by the award made in connection with any arbitral difference. There shall be no suspension of work, slowdown or curtailment of services while any difference is in process of adjustment or arbitration.
- I. In connection with any arbitration proceeding held pursuant to this Agreement, it is understood that:
  - 1. The arbitrator shall have no power to render a decision that will add to, subtract from or alter, change or modify the terms of this Agreement, and his/her power shall be limited to interpretation or application of the express terms of this Agreement, and all other matters shall be excluded from arbitration.
  - 2. The decision of the arbitrator shall be final, conclusive and binding upon the District, the Union and the employees involved.
  - 3. The cost of the arbitrator shall be borne equally by the District and the Union and each party shall bear the cost of presenting its own case.
  - 4. The arbitrator's decision shall be made in writing and shall be issued to the parties within thirty (30) days after the case is submitted to the arbitrator.

#### **ARTICLE XVIII: SAVINGS CLAUSE**

If any provision(s) or any application(s) of this Agreement to any employee or group of employees shall be found contrary to law, then such provision(s) or application(s) shall not be deemed valid and subsisting except to the extent permitted by law, but all other provisions or applications shall continue in full force and effect for the term of this Agreement, and the parties shall thereupon seek to negotiate substitute provisions which are in conformity with the applicable laws.

#### ARTICLE XIX: WORK STOPPAGE

- A. The Union agrees not to cause any strikes or stoppages of work, and the District agrees not to engage in any lockouts during the life of this Agreement.
- B. It shall not be a violation of this Agreement or cause for discipline or discharge for any employee to refuse to cross a legal picket line (endorsed by the Seattle/King County Building and Construction Trades Council) in the performance of his/her duties, as provided under this Article.

#### **ARTICLE XX: JURISDICTIONAL DISPUTES**

Any jurisdictional dispute which may arise between any two (2) or more labor organizations signatory to this collective bargaining agreement with the District shall be settled in the following manner:

- A. A Union which contends a jurisdictional dispute exists shall file a written statement with the District and other affected Unions describing the substance of the dispute.
  - 1. During the thirty (30) day period following the written statement described in Article XXI-A, the Unions along with representatives of the District shall attempt to settle the dispute among themselves with the assistance of the Washington State Public Employment Relations Commission Mediation Service, if needed.
  - 2. If the dispute is not settled by the means provided in Article XXI-B, either of the disputing Unions or the District may refer said dispute to the American Arbitration Association for arbitration to be conducted under its voluntary labor arbitration regulations.
- B. The District shall not assign work customarily performed by members of the Bargaining Unit to other District employees. Claims of violation of this understanding shall not be subject to the grievance and arbitration provisions of this agreement, but rather shall be processed in accordance with applicable law.

#### **ARTICLE XXI: HIRING**

- A. The District will call upon the appropriate local union to refer qualified applicants for work in the classifications herein contained.
- B. Selection and referral of applicants for jobs shall be on a non-discriminatory basis and shall in no way be affected by race, color, age, gender, creed, national origin, ancestry, economic status, pregnancy, physical appearance, religious belief, marital status, gender identity, sexual orientation or mental, physical or sensory disability, nor by Union membership, bylaws, rules, regulations, constitutional provisions, or any other aspect or obligation of Union membership, policies or requirements. Shop stewards shall be notified of new hires before the beginning of the shift in which the new employee begins work.
- C. When the District has placed an oral or written order for referral of workers from the Local Union and should a shortage of applicants exist, and they cannot be supplied by the Local Union within forty-eight (48) hours from the time workers ordered are required to report to the job, Saturdays, Sundays and holidays excluded, the District may then seek applicants from other sources. When the District so hires workers from sources other than the Local Union, the District shall notify the Council in accordance with Article IV-B.

#### ARTICLE XXII: TERM OF AGREEMENT

This Agreement shall become effective when signed by all parties and will run through August 31, 2022. Written notice of intent to terminate or modify this Agreement must be served by the requesting party at least sixty (60), but no more than ninety (90), days prior to the expiration date of the Agreement.

#### ARTICLE XXIII: PROTECTION OF EMPLOYEES AND PROPERTY

The District or its insurer shall reimburse an employee for any certified loss of or damage to personal property necessarily used in the course of duty or in transporting him/her to or from his/her place of assignment when such loss or damage is willfully and maliciously inflicted by students or persons known or unknown on District premises or while the employee is on duty, subject to the following conditions:

A. The District shall reimburse first-dollar losses up to the limit of the employee's insurance deductible not to exceed five hundred (\$500) dollars.

- B. There shall be no reimbursement for loss of cash.
- C. The use of personal equipment at work must have the prior approval of the supervisor, and a current inventory must be on file.
- D. There must be proof submitted that the employee either has no insurance or that his/her insurance does not cover the damage or loss in question. An employee must exhaust his/her own insurance recovery possibilities before being eligible for reimbursement under this Article.
- E. A Notice of Loss and Claim Reimbursement Form must be filed with the District's General Counsel's Office within twenty (20) days after the damage or loss occurs.

#### ARTICLE XXIV: APPRENTICESHIP PROGRAM

- A. The District and the Council agree to form a committee to review the feasibility of implementing an apprenticeship program. The Apprenticeship Committee will be composed of up to three (3) District representatives and three (3) Council representatives. The Committee will meet within 60 days of ratification with the contract by both parties. The Committee will design a proposed State- approved training program and will only implement if it is agreed to by both parties. The Committee will conform to the standard of the Apprenticeship Rules, Chapter 296-05 Washington Administrative Code (WAC) and RCW 49.04.
  - 1. Council recommends the District become a training agent for existing BTC apprenticeship training programs.
  - 2. Council recommends to exclude this from the CBA; instead, do an MOU after committee meets.

## 2019-20 CRAFTS & TRADES SALARY SCHEDULE (CT3, CT6, & CT8) Effective 9/1/2019

APPENDIX A

CH	Cuve	J 9/.	1/20	19

Trade	Hourly	Monthly	Annual
Asbestos Worker	\$39.04	\$6,766.93	\$81,203
Electrician	\$39.89	\$6,914.27	\$82,971
FA1 Electrician	\$41.61	\$7,212.40	\$86,549
Electronic Tech	\$34.32	\$5,948.80	\$71,386
Plumber/Steamfitter	\$40.28	\$6,981.87	\$83,782
Glazier	\$34.78	\$6,028.53	\$72,342
Bricklayer	\$35.65	\$6,179.33	\$74,152
Roofer	\$36.18	\$6,271.20	\$75,254
Sheet Metal	\$39.30	\$6,812.00	\$81,744
Painter	\$33.79	\$5,856.93	\$70,283
Laborer	\$29.85	\$5,174.00	\$62,088
Equipment Operator	\$33.21	\$5,756.40	\$69,077
Carpet Layer	\$33.36	\$5,782.40	\$69,389
Drywall Taper	\$34.24	\$5,934.93	\$71,219
General Foreperson	\$45.77	\$7,933.64	\$95,204
Senior General			
Foreperson	\$50.35	\$8,727.00	\$104,724

- 1. Forepersons shall be paid a \$3.00 premium in addition to their regular hourly rate.
- 2. General Forepersons shall be paid 10% higher than the highest paid rate. (FA1 Electrician)
- 3. Senior General Foreperson shall be paid 10% higher than the General Foreperson.
- 4. Laborers assigned to work as equipment operators shall be paid a \$1.00 premium

in addition to the regular Laborer rate.

- 5. Any employee who has current certification as a rigger, and who is assigned rigging duties, will be paid a \$4.00 premium when performing such duties.
- 6. The parties to this agreement agree to the addition of the FA-1 Electrician as a classification and rates in this Appendix, in lieu of a continued premium. This determination is a result of collective bargaining.

2019-20 Crafts & Trades Salary Schedule includes a 5.4% increase effective 9/1/2019

### 2020-21 CRAFTS & TRADES SALARY SCHEDULE (CT3, CT6, & CT8)

APPENDIX A

Effective 9/1/2020

Trade	Hourly	Monthly	Annual
Asbestos Worker	\$39.86	\$6,909.07	\$82,909
Electrician	\$40.73	\$7,059.87	\$84,718
FA1 Electrician	\$42.48	\$7,363.20	\$88,358
Electronic Tech	\$35.04	\$6,073.60	\$72,883
Plumber/Steamfitter	\$41.13	\$7,129.20	\$85,550
Glazier	\$35.51	\$6,155.07	\$73,861
Bricklayer	\$36.40	\$6,309.33	\$75,712
Roofer	\$36.94	\$6,402.93	\$76,835
Sheet Metal	\$40.13	\$6,955.87	\$83,470
Painter	\$34.50	\$5,980.00	\$71,760
Laborer	\$30.48	\$5,283.20	\$63,398
Equipment Operator	\$33.91	\$5,877.73	\$70,533
Carpet Layer	\$34.06	\$5,903.73	\$70,845
Drywall Taper	\$34.96	\$6,059.73	\$72,717
General Foreperson	\$46.73	\$8,099.52	\$97,194
Senior General			
Foreperson	\$51.40	\$8,909.47	\$106,914

- 1. Forepersons shall be paid a \$3.00 premium in addition to their regular hourly rate.
- 2. General Forepersons shall be paid 10% higher than the highest paid rate. (FA1 Electrician)
- 3. Senior General Foreperson shall be paid 10% higher than the General Foreperson.
- 4. Laborers assigned to work as equipment operators shall be paid a \$1.00 premium
  - in addition to the regular Laborer rate.
- 5. Any employee who has current certification as a rigger, and who is assigned rigging duties, will be paid a \$4.00 premium when performing such duties.
- 6. The parties to this agreement agree to the addition of the FA-1 Electrician as a classification and rates in this Appendix, in lieu of a continued premium. This determination is a result of collective bargaining.

2020-21 Crafts & Trades Salary Schedule includes a 2.1% increase effective 9/1/2020

## 2021-22 CRAFTS & TRADES SALARY SCHEDULE (CT3, CT6, & CT8)

APPENDIX A

Effective 9/1/2021

Trade	Hourly	Monthly	Annual	
Asbestos Worker	\$40.66	\$7,047.73	\$84,573	
Electrician	\$41.54	\$7,200.27	\$86,403	
FA1 Electrician	\$43.33	\$7,510.53	\$90,126	
Electronic Tech	\$35.74	\$6,194.93	\$74,339	
Plumber/Steamfitter	\$41.95	\$7,271.33	\$87,256	
Glazier	\$36.22	\$6,278.13	\$75,338	
Bricklayer	\$37.13	\$6,435.87	\$77,230	
Roofer	\$37.68	\$6,531.20	\$78,374	
Sheet Metal	\$40.93	\$7,094.53	\$85,134	
Painter	\$35.19	\$6,099.60	\$73,195	
Laborer	\$31.09	\$5,388.93	\$64,667	
Equipment Operator	\$34.59	\$5,995.60	\$71,947	
Carpet Layer	\$34.74	\$6,021.60	\$72,259	
Drywall Taper	\$35.66	\$6,181.07	\$74,173	
General Foreperson	\$47.66	\$8,261.59	\$99,139	
Senior General				
Foreperson	\$52.43	\$9,087.75	\$109,053	

- 1. Forepersons shall be paid a \$3.00 premium in addition to their regular hourly rate.
- 2. General Forepersons shall be paid 10% higher than the highest paid rate. (FA1 Electrician)
- 3. Senior General Foreperson shall be paid 10% higher than the General Foreperson.
- 4. Laborers assigned to work as equipment operators shall be paid a \$1.00 premium

in addition to the regular Laborer rate.

- 5. Any employee who has current certification as a rigger, and who is assigned rigging duties, will be paid a \$4.00 premium when performing such duties.
- 6. The parties to this agreement agree to the addition of the FA-1 Electrician as a classification and rates in this Appendix, in lieu of a continued premium. This determination is a result of collective bargaining.

2021-22 Crafts & Trades Salary Schedule includes a 2.0% increase effective 9/1/2021

**GRIEVANCE NUMBER:** 



**DESTINATION:** 

□ Human Resources

# APPENDIX B: GRIEVANCE REVIEW REQUEST TRADES GRIEVANCE REVIEW REQUEST

**TRADES UNIT:** 

□ Facilities Supervi	sor/Director	/Director Trades#:					
<ul><li>Grievant</li><li>SKCBCTC</li><li>Specific Trade</li></ul>				Distric	t#:		
Grievant:	Name	Job Title		Location	Da	ate Submitted	
Supervisor:	Name	Job Title		Location	Da	ate Resolved	
Grievance:  1. Describe fully when,	Grievance:  1. Describe fully when, where and how the grievance took place (attach additional information as necessary):						
2. State specific provis	:(-) -f 4b - A			hava haan vialatad na	:-: <b>:</b>	4-d	
3. Remedy requested:							
o							
Grievant's Signature:					Date:		
Informal Step	Did the inform  ☐ Yes ☐ No	mal Step occur?	Name	of Supervisor:	Da	te:	
Step 1 Hearing Date:		ep present at No		Union Rep's Name	(co	esponse Date opy attached):	
Supervisor's Signatu		Is answer satisfacto Grievant?   Ves   No	-	Union Representativ	_		
Step 2 Hearing Date:	Was Union at Hearing   □ Yes	on Rep present ng? □ No	If yes,	Union Rep's Name	Respon attache	nse Date (copy ed):	
Director's/Designee's		Is answer satisfacto Grievant?  □ Yes □ No		Union Representati			
Step 3 AAA Date:	AAA Par	ticipants:	Name	of Arbitrator:	Respon	nse Date:	

### APPENDIX C: DUES DEDUCTION SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT

This Settlement Agreement ("Agreement") is entered into between the Seattle/King County Building and Construction Trades Council ("Building Trades"), the Building Laborers, Local 242 ("Laborers"), and the Seattle School District No. 1 ("District") to fully and finally resolve a grievance filed by the Laborers on or about April 14, 2009.

#### **RECITALS**

- A. On or about April 14, 2009, the Laborers filed a grievance with the District claiming that working dues or union dues were not paid to the Laborers in compliance with the 2007-2010 Collective Bargaining Agreement between the Building Trades and the District. The parties moved this dispute to arbitration, Case No. 75 390 00269 09.
- B. In order to avoid the expense and uncertainty were the parties to continue to litigate or administratively challenge this dispute, and in an effort to work more collaboratively in the future, the parties now desire to settle and forever resolve said disputes upon the terms and conditions set forth herein.

#### NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS AGREED AS FOLLOWS:

- 1. The District agrees to submit to the Building Trades a list of all full-time, part-time, and temporary employees currently working for the District and represented by the Building Trades. The District will submit this list to the Building Trades within one week after this Agreement is signed by both parties.
- 2. The Building Trades warrants and represents to the District that they have written authorization from all District employees on whose behalf they request dues deductions from the District. The Building Trades also warrants and represents to the District that all future individuals dispatched to the District from the Building Trades, and on whose behalf the Building Trades request dues deductions, will have provided written authorization for such deductions.
- 3. For all future dispatched individuals sent to work at the District by the Building Trades for all trades/locals except for the Laborers, all such individuals will bring with them on their first day of work a form, created by their respective local, indicating whether union dues are to be withheld by the District and the amount for that particular employee. For current employees represented by the Building Trades, the District will continue to withhold union dues unless the District is told to stop by the Building Trades. For current employees represented by the Building Trades, who self-pay union dues, the District will not withhold union dues for those employees, unless a form is turned in by the Building Trades indicating that union dues are to be withheld by the District and the amount for that particular employee.
- 4. For all future dispatched individuals sent to work at the District by the building Trades who are part of the Laborers, the District will withhold union dues for all such employees assigned to the District in the amount provided to the District under paragraph 6. For current employees represented by the Laborers, the District will continue to withhold union dues in the same amount, until that amount is changed under paragraph 6.
- 5. The Building Trades and District agree that it will be the responsibility of the Building Trades or individual locals to obtain written dues check-off authorizations for all future dispatched individuals sent to work at the District by the Building Trades. The District has no responsibility to ask any employee represented by the Building Trades to sign a dues check-off authorization document. It is the sole responsibility of the Building Trades to get a dues check-off authorization form signed.

- 6. The Building Trades agrees that it will be the responsibility of the Building Trades to provide written notice to the District of the dues amounts to be withheld for all employees when the dues amount is changed. It is the further responsibility of the Building Trades to submit any change in the amount of the dues to be withheld to the District at least 30 days in advance of the requested change date.
- 7. The District agrees to pay the Laborers \$3,900 to resolve all issues related to improperly withheld or paid union dues, including all working dues and union dues.
- 8. The Laborers agree to withdraw its grievance and its request for arbitration related to the dues dispute (Case No. 75 390 00269 09).
- 9. The Building Trades and Laborers agree to not file any future grievances, claims, or lawsuits for any unpaid dues, including working dues or union dues, from all past dates until the date this agreement is signed.
- 10. This Agreement is for settlement purposes only and does not constitute an admission of any wrongful act or omission by any party. This Agreement is non-precedent setting.
- 11. Each party is responsible for paying their own costs and fees related to this dispute, including but not limited to arbitrator fees and attorney fees.
- 12. This two-page Agreement constitutes the entire understanding between the Building Trades, the Laborers, and the District.

#### 2019-2022

#### **MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING**

between

**SEATTLE SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 1** 

and

SEATTLE/KING COUNTY BUILDING AND CONSTRUCTION TRADES COUNCIL



# 2019-2022 Trades Collective Bargaining Agreement

Seattle Public Schools is committed to making its online information accessible and usable to all people, regardless of ability or technology. Meeting web accessibility guidelines and standards is an ongoing process that we are consistently working to improve.

While Seattle Public Schools endeavors to only post documents optimized for accessibility, due to the nature and complexity of some documents, an accessible version of the document may not be available. In these limited circumstances, the District will provide equally effective alternate access.

For questions and more information about this document, please contact the following:

Clover Codd
Chief Human Resources Officer/Human Resources
Clcodd@seattleschools.org

This is a copy of the approved 2019-2022 Trades Collective Bargaining Agreement between Seattle School District No. 1 and Seattle/King County Building and Construction Trades Council in track changes showing what updates were made.





### 2016-2019-2022 COLLECTIVE BARGAINING AGREEMENT

#### between

**SEATTLE SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 1** 

and

SEATTLE/KING COUNTY BUILDING and CONSTRUCTION TRADES COUNCIL

#### \*Includes:

2016-20192019-2022 Collective Bargaining Agreement
2016-20192019-2022 Salary Schedules
Grievance Request Form
2016-20192019-2022 Memorandum of Understanding

FOR SEATTLE-KING COUNTY BUILDING AND COM	
Monty Anderson, Executive Secretary Seattle-King County Building Trades	Jesse Sanden, Business Representative Bricklayers/Allied Crafts, Local 1
Dale Cannon, Business Manager Building Laborers, Local 242	Mark Samuelson, Business Representative Intl Brotherhood of Electrical Workers, Loca
Todd Mitchell, Business Manager Heat & Frost Insulators and Allied Workers, Local 7	Steve Hurley, Business Manager Roofers, Local 54
Toby Hoffman, Business Representative Intl Union of Painters and Allied Trades, District Council 5	Corey Wilker, Business Representative Plumbers & Pipefitters, Local 32
	Sam Hem, Business Representative Sheet Metal Workers, Local 66
FOR SEATTLE S	CHOOL DISTRICT NO. 1:
Dr. Larry Nyland Denise Juneau, Executive Director of Labor Superintendent Seattle School District No. 1	Stan Damas Clover Codd, Chief Human Resources Officer
	Tom Poulos, Director of Labor-& Employee-Relations

#### 2016-20192019-2022 COLLECTIVE BARGAINING AGREEMENT

#### **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

COLLECTIVE BA	RGAINING AGREEMENT	PAGE
ARTICLE I:	RECOGNITION	4
ARTICLE II:	AFFIRMATIVE ACTION/NON-DISCRIMINATION	. 4
ARTICLE III:	MANAGEMENT RIGHTS	
SECTION A:	Subcontracting	
SECTION B:	Small Works Processes and Procedures.	5
ARTICLE IV:	UNION SECURITY MAINTENANCE OF	6
	MEMBERSHIP	•
ARTICLE V:	DUES DEDUCTIONS	6
ARTICLE VIV:	REPRESENTATION	
ARTICLE VIIVI:	DEFINITIONS	
SECTION A:	Employees	
SECTION B:	Regular Employees	
SECTION C:	Temporary Employees	8
SECTION D:	Apprentice Employees	
ARTICLE VIIIVII:	HOURS AND OVERTIME	8
SECTION A:	General Expectations	
SECTION B:	Normal Work Schedule	8
SECTION C:	Overtime	8
SECTION D:	Special Premium Pay	8
SECTION E:	Refusal of Assignment Outside Regular Hours	9
SECTION F:	Call Back	
SECTION G:	Show Up Pay	
SECTION H:	Lunch Period	
SECTION I:	Four Ten Hour Day Shifts (4-10's)	
ARTICLE IXVIII:	HOLIDAYS	
ARTICLE XIX:	LEAVES	
SECTION A:	Annual Leave	
SECTION B:	Sick Leave	
SECTION C:	Personal Leave	13
SECTION D:	Bereavement Leave	13
SECTION E:	Jury Duty and Court Appearances	13
SECTION F:	Unpaid Leaves	
SECTION G:	Shared Leave	
SECTION H:	Military Leave	14

SECTION I:	Family Medical Leave Act
	(FMLA)
<b>SECTION J:</b>	Washington Paid Family Medical Leave Act
	(WPFMLA)
SECTION JK:	Work Availability Incentive
ARTICLE XIX:	INJURY WHILE ON DUTY
ARTICLE XIIXI:	RATES OF PAY
SECTION A:	Payroll Schedules
SECTION B:	Rate Protection
SECTION C:	Lead Rates
SECTION D:	Rates of Pay
SECTION E:	Overpayment Retrieval
ARTICLE XIIIXII:	PENSION
SECTION A:	
	Regular Employee
SECTION B:	Temporary Employee
ARTICLE	SENIORITY
XIVXIII:	
SECTION A:	Probationary Period.
SECTION B:	Determination of-Seniority
SECTION C:	Loss of Seniority
SECTION D:	Layoff Notification
SECTION E:	Short Calls
SECTION F:	Determination of Layoffs and Recalls
SECTION G:	Military Service
SECTION H:	Temporary Employees
ARTICLE XVXIV:	PERFORMANCE EVALUATION
ARTICLE XVIXV:	DISCIPLINE AND DISCHARGE OF EMPLOYEES
ARTICLE	GROUP INSURANCE
XVIIXVI:	
ARTICLE	GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE
XVIIIXVII:	
ARTICLE	SAVINGS CLAUSE
XIXXVIII:	
ARTICLE XXXIX:	WORK STOPPAGE
ARTICLE XXIXX:	JURISDICTIONAL DISPUTES
ARTICLE AMAX.	HIRING
XXIIXXI:	
ARTICLE	TERM OF AGREEMENT
XXIIIXXII:	TERM OF AGREEMENT
ARTICLE	PROTECTION OF EMPLOYEES AND PROPERTY
	PROTECTION OF EMPLOTEES AND PROPERTY
XXIVXXIII:	A DDD ENTIOECHUD DDOOD AM
ARTICLE	APPRENTICESHIP PROGRAM
XXVXXIV:	
APPENDIX:	
Appendix A:	Salary Schedule <del>2016-2017</del> 2019-2020, 2020-2021, 2021-
	<u>2022</u>
Appendix B:	Grievance Request Form
Appendix C:	Dues Deduction Settlement Agreement
	OF UNDERSTANDING
MOU ESSB 5940	

#### <del>2016-2019</del>2019-2022

# COLLECTIVE BARGAINING AGREEMENT Between the SEATTLE SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 1 and the SEATTLE/KING COUNTY BUILDING and CONSTRUCTION TRADES COUNCIL

#### **ARTICLE I: RECOGNITION**

A. The Seattle School District No. 1, hereafter referred to as the District, recognizes the Seattle/King County Building and Construction Trades Council and its affiliate unions signatory hereto, and hereafter referred to as the Council, to be the sole and exclusive bargaining agent of those employees who are employed in classifications listed in Appendix A of this Agreement.

€. <del>F.</del>

B. In the event the District creates a new job classification for work covered by this Agreement, it will notify the Council who will have the opportunity to negotiate with the District over all mandatory subjects of bargaining. If there is a dispute as to whether the classification is covered by this Agreement, the matter shall be referred to the Washington State Public Employment Relations Commission Mediation Services for adjudication.

<del>G.</del> <del>H.</del>

C. The District and the Council recognize that it is in their best interest to develop good on-going working relationships, a collaborative problem-solving mechanism and a collaborative way to deal with problems as they arise. Therefore, the parties agree to meet and discuss subjects of respective and/or mutual interest. All or any subjects of discussion shall be deemed of interest worthy of pursuit

<del>|. \_\_\_</del>

- D. If the District grants any other union that was formerly included in the Building Trades /SPS bargaining unit more favorable across-the-board wage increases, and/or benefit enhancement, than granted to the Building Trades, then the Building Trades affiliated unions shall be entitled to the same across-the-board wage increase and/or benefit enhancement to be implemented on the same date as negotiated with the other union formerly affiliated with the Building Trades/SPS bargaining unit.
- E. With respect to discussions of across-the-board wage increases when this Agreement is opened for renegotiation, the parties will examine compensation data from relevant and comparable employers. The parties will review this comparable compensation data to ensure the District can attract and retain qualified employees.

<del>K.</del>..

#### ARTICLE II: AFFIRMATIVE ACTION/NON-DISCRIMINATION

- A. The District and the Council agree that they will not discriminate against any employee by reason of race, creed, age, color, gender, national origin, ancestry, economic status, pregnancy, physical appearance, religious belief, marital status, gender identity, sexual orientation, or mental, physical or sensory disability.
- B. The Council agrees with and supports the concept of Affirmative Action. Therefore, the parties mutually agree to use their best efforts to ensure that this Agreement will not be in conflict with, or inconsistent with Title VII, Title IX of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 and/or Washington State Statutes.

#### ARTICLE III: MANAGEMENT RIGHTS

The Council recognizes the District's inherent and traditional right to manage its business and operations. Accordingly, except to the extent specifically covered and controlled by the express terms of this Agreement, the Council recognizes the right of the District to hire, transfer, promote, demote, assign and retain employees and to discipline, suspend or discharge employees for just cause and to maintain the discipline and efficiency of its employees; the right to lay off; the right to establish, change and direct the methods and processes of doing work, to introduce new and improved work methods or equipment and to assign work to outside contractors; the right to determine the starting and quitting times and the number of hours to be worked; and the right to make and amend such reasonable rules and regulations as it may deem necessary for the conduct of its business and to require their observance. Except for emergency situations or matters involving safety, changes or additions to work rules promulgated by the Maintenance Manager will be distributed to affected employees at least twenty four (24) hours before they become effective.

#### A. SUBCONTRACTING

The District shall retain its right to sub-contract work. However, the District shall not sub-contract work covered by the classifications included in this agreement unless the Core Group of employees are employed. The Core Group shall be 67 employees. After the adoption by the School District of the annual budget, the District shall meet annually with the Executive Secretary of the Seattle/King County Building and Construction Trades Council. The District shall inform the Executive Secretary of the number of Core Group employee positions that it will have for the following school year before the start of that school year as long as the School District Board of Directors has adopted the District budget for the ensuing school year. This is not a guarantee of employment, but rather it is a commitment to limit the use of outside contractors to times when the Core Group of employees are working. As an exception to the foregoing commitment not to subcontract unless all of the Core Group of employees are working, the District may still subcontract if any of the following conditions occur:

- 1. The required services are uncommon to District employees because they are special, highly technical, peculiar or unique in character.
- 2. The required services involve the use of equipment or materials not possessed by the District at the time and place required.
- 3. When the services of a contractor are necessary for health and safety reasons.

There shall be no restriction on subcontracting any work at any time under any conditions which is above the bid threshold established by law or under any circumstance where the District is required to comply with applicable law.

#### B. SMALL WORKS PROCESS AND PROCEDURES

1. All projects, at or below the self-performance threshold established by law and District policy (75K) in combined labor and material estimated costs ("Small Works") will be presented to the Management for consideration of accomplishment by the Maintenance Section. If the project is work that can be accomplished without special tools or equipment, the Maintenance Section needs to rent or purchase and the current staff has the ability to complete the task or the Maintenance Section can hire itinerant staff with the requestor's timeline and without expected overtime, the Maintenance Section will have the first right of refusal. Management will advise the requestor within twenty-four (24) hours whether the project can be done as presented or if additional information is needed to consider the project for completion. Upon presentation of the additional information this time period may be extended two (2) weeks. The proposed project must be specified to a point that it is possible to estimate resources and time necessary for completion of the project Management will discuss any project that he or she is considering rejecting with the Unit Foreperson before making a decision to pass over a project. Management

reserves the right to retain Building Trades work to be performed by bargaining unit personnel when necessary for scheduling and/or cost efficiencies.

- 2. In compliance with The State of Washington's requirement regarding prevailing wages and the District's regular requirements for the safety and health of students and staff members all construction supervisors, construction personnel and contractors and all their subcontractors of whatever tier involved in small works shall be fingerprinted and submit to background checks.
- 3. The District Maintenance Manager will be advised on a weekly basis of all projects considered for Small Works assignment and receive copies of any specifications or instructions. The Maintenance Section will be provided with copies of purchase orders or contracts for Small Works Projects. Upon completion of purchase orders or contracts for Small Works Projects, the Maintenance Manager will be notified of completion. The District will provide quarterly reports at the Labor Management Meetings.
- 4. Every project shall be subject to final inspection by the Project Manager or General Foreperson as appropriate. Final payment on the project will not be released until inspection is complete and all concerns are answered to the District's satisfaction.
- 5. Contractors who receive a contract shall not sub-contract out their work unless the work being subbed out is directly specified as a specialty trade assignment, not to exceed forty (40%) of the project. All requests for subs shall be written and submitted to the HUBS/Small Works Manager for approval. The use of Labor Brokers shall not be permitted.
- 6. Responsible Small Works Contractors shall meet the following responsibility criteria at the time the quote/bid is submitted and before being awarded a Small Works contract:
  - The contractor must be registered under RCW 18.27.
  - The contractor must have a current state unified business identifier number.
  - The contractor must have a worker's compensation coverage.
  - The contractor must have a Department of Employment Security number.
  - The contractor must have a state excise tax registration number.
- 7. After being awarded a Small Works Contract, but prior to the beginning of work, the contractor must provide proof of a filing of a Washington State Intent to pay Prevailing Wage Report.

#### ARTICLE IV: UNION SECURITY MAINTENANCE OF MEMBERSHIP

A. Membership Rights – All employees working in the bargaining unit shall have the right to become a union member upon hire. The District, including supervisors and managers, agrees to direct all questions and communication from unit employees regarding union membership directly to the union. The District shall have the right to hire persons without regard to Union membership; provided, however, that the District and the Council shall abide by the following Union Security Clause which reads as follows:

It shall be a condition of employment that all employees of the District covered by this Agreement who are members of an affiliated local union in good standing on the effective date of this Agreement shall remain members in good standing, and those who are not members on the effective date of this Agreement, shall, on or before the thirty-first (31st) day following the effective date of this Agreement, become and remain members in good standing in an affiliated local union of the Council. It shall also be a condition of employment that all employees covered by this Agreement and hired on or after its effective date shall, on or before the thirty-first (31st) day following the beginning of such employment become and remain members in good standing in an affiliated local union of the Council.

- B. Notice The District shall advise the Council and applicable Union of the names, addresses, phone numbers, work email address, job classification, FTE status and work location, of new District employees covered by this Agreement within seven (7) calendar days following the date of employment. The District will notify the Council of new hires and rehires who are to become members of an affiliated local by telephone or in writing on or before the first day of each month.
- C. New Employee Orientation, Union Presentation Not less than five (5) working days before a new employee orientation, the District shall forward to the Union a list of names, with craft designation, of bargaining unit employees who shall be attending. The District shall also provide at least thirty (30) minutes for new hires into the bargaining unit to meet with the Union's designated representative during the employee's normally scheduled new hire orientation with the District. It is also agreed that when an employee fails to fulfill the above obligation, the Council shall provide the employee and the District with notification of the Council's intent to request discharge in fifteen (15) days if compliance is not met by the employee.
- D. Automatic Payroll Deduction Upon receipt of written authorization individually signed by the employee, the District will deduct from the pay of such employee the amount of dues and initiation fees as certified by the Union. The District shall transmit such fees to the Union once each month on behalf of the members involved.

An employee may cancel their payroll deduction of dues and fees by written notice to the Union and to the District, with the District stopping deductions following written confirmation from the Union that the employee dues/fees authorization has been terminated in compliance with the terms of the written authorization executed by the employee. The District will make every effort to end the automatic dues deduction effective on the first pay period but no later than the second pay period after receipt of the written cancellation notice.

- E. Hold Harmless The Union will indemnify, defend and hold the District harmless against any claims made, and against any suit instituted against the District on account of any check-off dues. The Union agrees to refund to the District any amounts paid to it in error on account of the check-off provision diesn upon presentation of proper evidence thereof.
- F. Public Records Request When the District received a public records request that is specific to an employee's personnel records, the District will inform the employee of the request. When the District received a public records request pertaining to the bargaining unit and/or Union membership as a whole, the District shall notify the Union as soon as possible after the District's Labor and Employee Relations department received the request.

С.

#### ARTICLE V: DUES DEDUCTIONS

- A. The District shall deduct union membership dues from the wages of each employee who has submitted a written authorization. Such deductions shall be transmitted monthly to the appropriate local union on behalf of the employees involved. All dues deduction authorizations, dues deductions and transmittal of dues to the appropriate local union shall be in accordance with the Settlement Agreement of Arbitration Case # 75-390-00269, in Appendix C of this Agreement.
- B. The written authorization shall be irrevocable for a period of one (1) year, or until the termination of the collective bargaining agreement, whichever occurs sooner and shall be automatically renewed and shall be irrevocable for successive periods of one (1) year each, or for the period of each succeeding applicable collective bargaining agreement between the District and the Council, whichever shall be the shorter, unless written notice is given by the employee to the District, appropriate local union and Council not more than twenty (20) days and not less than ten (10) days prior to the expiration for each period of one (1) year, or of each applicable collective bargaining agreement between the District and the Council, whichever occurs sooner.

C. The Union will indemnify, defend and hold the District harmless against any claims made, and against any suit instituted against the District on account of any check-off of dues. The Union agrees to refund to the District any amounts paid to it in error on account of the check-off provisions upon presentation of proper evidence thereof.

#### ARTICLE **YIV**: REPRESENTATION

A.—The Business Manager and/or Union Representative of a union signatory to this Agreement may appoint or elect may

- A. \_\_\_\_appoint or elect\_a Steward among the employees that the union represents under this Agreement. The affected Local Union bylaws shall be the basis for the procedure of the election and/or appointment of the Union's Steward. Each Local Union shall provide the Maintenance Manager with the name of its Steward. A Steward shall not be discriminated against for making a complaint or giving evidence with respect to an alleged violation of any provision of this Agreement, but under no circumstances shall a Steward interfere with orders of the District or change working conditions.
- B. The Council may elect two Employee Representatives from among the entire bargaining unit to attend regular Labor Management Committee meetings between the Council and the District. The election of the Employee Representatives shall be by secret ballot. The Labor Management Committee shall continue efforts to discourage and prevent harassing, abusive and/or disruptive behavior by and among employees at work.

#### **ARTICLE VIIVI: DEFINITIONS**

A. **Employees:** For the purpose of this Agreement "Employee" shall mean a person employed by the District in one of the classifications listed in Appendix A.

#### B. Regular Employees:

- 1. Employees who are actively on the payroll and normally assigned to work twelve (12) months per year, forty (40) hours per week and eight (8) hours per day.
- 2. A regular employee may be so designated at the time of hire or will become a regular employee upon successfully completing five (5) months of employment in any consecutive twelve (12) month period with a minimum of seventy (70) hours of regular time in each of those months. Upon becoming a regular employee such employee shall be awarded seniority rights retroactive to their original date of hire as a temporary employee. Such employee shall serve a probationary period as outlined in Article XIV-A.
- 3. Any employee hired as a regular employee who is laid off prior to completing the five (5) months/seventy (70) hours condition shall be granted health and welfare benefits as though such employee had initially been employed as described in Article VII-C.
- 4. Annual Leave and Sick/Emergency Leave rights shall be granted retroactive to the first date of the qualifying period for any/all employees achieving regular employee status.
- C. Temporary Employees: A temporary employee shall be hired on a short-term basis and shall only accrue health and welfare benefits as described in Article XVII-B (Group Insurance). All temporary employees hired by the District shall be paid an hourly rate as shown in Appendix A. Such temporary employees shall not acquire seniority and shall be subject to termination at any time without recourse to the grievance procedure.
- D. **Apprentice Employees:** Apprentices are those workers who are registered with the State of Washington according to RCW 49.04 and are participating in a State approved training program administered by a joint labor-management committee.

E. Management as used in the CBA, refers to non-represented staff who have budget authority, responsibility to direct work to meet department goals, and are within the District's direct line management structure.

#### ARTICLE VIIIVII: HOURS AND OVERTIME

- A. **General Expectations:** The ability to work regularly is a requirement of continued employment. Employees must report all absences to his or her supervisor before the beginning of the employee's scheduled shift except in the case of an emergency.
- B. **Normal Work Schedule:** For regular employees, the normal work schedule Monday-Friday, will be forty (40) hours per week, eight (8) hours per day between the hours of 6:00 a.m. and 6:00 p.m., excluding a one-half (1/2) hour lunch period five (5) days per week. This shall not be construed as being a guarantee by the District of any particular number of hours.

#### C. Overtime:

- 1. When an employee is compensated -in excess of eight (8) hours per day or in excess of forty (40) hours per week, the employee shall be compensated for the overtime at the rate of one and one-half (1-1/2) times his/her regular rate of pay.
- 2. Work performed on Sundays and holidays shall be compensated at double time the employee's regular rate of pay.
- 3. No pyramiding of overtime shall be allowed.
- 4. All overtime must be authorized in advance by Management or the management-designated supervisor.
- 5. The Foreperson may assign mandatory overtime.
- 6. When an employee is called out to work without at least eight (8) hours off since his/her previous shift, all such call out time shall be paid at the overtime rate until he/she has had eight (8) hours off.
- 7. Employees on paid leave status do not qualify for the assignment of overtime work.

#### D. Special Premium Pay:

- 1. A premium of two dollars and fifty cents (\$2.0050) shall be paid for employees that start work on a second shift after 11:00AM except for work performed- on an overtime basis as an extension of a day shift employee. Employees assigned to work second shift will continue to receive the second shift two dollars and fifty cents (\$2.0050) premium for temporary day shift assignments of two (2) weeks or less. Those employees who are assigned a Monday through Friday shift shall receive time and one-half (1-1/2) for all Saturday work; those employees assigned a Tuesday through Saturday shift shall receive a premium of two dollars and fifty cents (\$2.0050) for all Saturday work.
- 2. The Sprinkler Fitter position requires a licensed Sprinkler Fitter and an AS1 Certification Test, and shall have a \$4.00 an hour stipend, paid exclusively when performing Sprinkler Fitter duties, as long as the Sprinkler Fitter's AS1 certification is current. If at any time AS1 Certification lapses, the stipend will be removed effective 30 calendar days from the date of license expiration. This stipend will not cascade to higher positions and will not be considered part of the rate for highest journeyperson supervised. Should the Seattle Fire Department standard with respect to AS1 certification cease to exist, such that certification is no longer required, the additional duties and

stipend will cease upon written or electronic notification to the Sprinkler Fitter in the position at the time the requirement ceases. Duties of the Sprinkler Fitter position include quarterly and semi-annual sprinkler inspections as required by the Seattle Fire Department. Added responsibilities include:

- Installing, maintaining, and testing SPS sprinkler systems to assure they meet AS1 Certification requirements;
- After hours emergency response is required, as needed.
- 3. Two (2) District plumbers will be assigned the Backflow Assembly Tester ("BAT") duties. The BAT positions will be offered to current FTE status District plumbers using district seniority in the plumbers as the selection criterion. An individual who does not want to be tested and certified as a BAT gives up the right to that opportunity, until a BAT position opens up in the future. Individuals who hold the required BAT certification and are selected to perform the BAT positions will receive a \$4.00 per hour stipend. This stipend will not cascade to higher positions and will not be considered part of the rate for highest journeyperson supervised. If more than two (2) District plumbers have a BAT certification, only the two employees who designated to be part of the BAT position will receive the stipend.
- 4. One existing Electrician position within Electrician classification will be designated to complete additional duties that include annual maintenance and testing of emergency generator systems as required by the City of Seattle. This position requires a Washington State licensed (EL-01) Electrician and a current EG-1 Certification. The added responsibilities include:
  - Installation, Maintenance and confidence testing of electrical systems related to emergency generators EG-1 requirements;
  - After hours emergency response as required.

Parties agree that I.B.E.W. 46 District Electricians be assigned the responsibility to repair and inspect electric generators installed in District buildings.

The parties agree that the EG-1 Electrician shall receive an additional \$4.00 an hour stipend for all hours performing emergency electric generator work. There shall be a minimum of two (2) hours per electric generator work assignment and stipend pay period. This stipend will not cascade to higher positions and will not be considered part of the rate for highest journeyperson supervised, nor shall it be subject to pyramiding for the purpose of overtime calculations. Should the City of Seattle standard be changed or modified to remove the annual maintenance and testing of emergency generators requirement, the additional duties and stipend will immediately cease upon notification to the current incumbent in the position.

E. **Refusal of Assignment Outside Regular Hours:** In assigning work for swing shift, the employer will first ask for volunteers; if enough people do not volunteer, the employer will assign people in inverse seniority order. If a significant hardship is created by assigning an employee to swing shift, the employer will review and verify the circumstances with the Union, and where appropriate, the employer will pass over this employee and assign the next least senior employee.

If there are more volunteers than available for swing shift positions for a particular craft, those volunteers with the most seniority within the craft and with the required skill within the craft shall be assigned to the available positions except in situations where the more senior volunteer within the craft has a skill/expertise and/or performs a special function as part of his/her regular duties for which the District determines it will retain that employee on other than the swing shift.

F. **Call Back:** Any employee who is required to return to work after the end of his/her regular shift shall be paid a minimum of four (4) hours pay at his/her appropriate rate.

In situations where the employee does not have to return to work (work on line), the employee will be compensated for time worked at one and one-half (1 ½) times the individual employee's hourly rate of pay for regular shift; time will be rounded up to the nearest 15 minute period with a 90 minute minimum. If called back by management while on approved vacation or personal leave the work time will be paid at double the employee's regular rate of pay.

General Forepersons who take weekend calls for the Senior General Foreman for two (2) days or less shall be paid a stipend of fifty dollars (\$50.00) per day. Saturday 12:00 AM – 11:59 PM and Sunday 12:00 AM – 11:59 PM constitute the hours of weekend call. The daily stipend is in addition to the compensation for time worked contained above.

- G. **Show Up Pay:** Any employee called to work shall be paid a minimum of two (2) hours at appropriate rate of pay.
- H. **Lunch Period:** The District shall establish a regular non-paid lunch period for each employee. In the event an employee is required to perform work beyond five (5) hours without lunch the employee shall receive one-half (1/2) hour penalty pay at the applicable overtime rate and shall also receive time to eat.

#### I. Four Ten Hour Day Shifts (4-10's):

- 1. Four Ten Hour Shifts (4-10's) may be scheduled, so long as the District provides at least seven (7) days advance notice. Prior to termination of the four-ten hour shift schedule, the District shall provide at least seven (7) days advance notice. Management reserves the right to decline 4-10 shifts for positions required to work a traditional five day/8 hour day schedule due to coverage and/or operational needs.
- 2. The following conditions shall apply specifically to the four-ten hour shifts:
  - a. Overtime shall be paid after ten (10) hours in a day or forty (40) in one week.
  - b. Holidays: During a holiday week, the employees shall revert to an eight (8) hour day. Holiday pay shall be paid at eight (8) hours per day.
  - c. Leave Accruals: Employees who are working four-ten hour shifts (4X10's) shall earn (accrue) the same number of total annual hours for annual leave, sick leave, holiday pay, personal leave, and bereavement leave. Example: an employee working five (5) days per week and who has two (2) years service earns eighty (80) hours of annual leave. If that employee goes to work on a 4X10 schedule, he/she shall earn (accrue) eighty (80) hours of annual leave. Employees shall not earn (accrue) more leave or less leave than if they were on an eight (8) hour day schedule.
  - d. Taking Leave: Employees who work ten (10) hour days shall be paid and be charged ten (10) hours per day for sick leave, personal leave, annual leave, and bereavement leave. Employees shall not earn more leave or less leave than if they were on an eight (8) hour day schedule.
- 3. If enough volunteers cannot be found to work this 4-10 schedule, employees shall be assigned by reverse seniority within each craft and skill within a craft.

If there are more volunteers than available 4-10's position for a particular craft, those volunteers with the most seniority within the craft and with the required skill within the craft shall be assigned to the available positions except in situations where the more senior volunteer within the craft has a skill/expertise and/or performs a special function as part of his/her regular duties for which the District determines it will retain that employee on other than the 4-10's shift.

J. Shift Change: The District shall give seven (7) days advance notice prior to changing a shift. The District shall be permitted, through mutual agreement, to adjust shifts. At the District's discretion, employees requesting to adjust their start time may be granted with one (1) day notice.

#### ARTICLE **IXVIII**: HOLIDAYS

A. The following are paid holidays for all regular employees regardless of the day of the week on which they fall:

Labor Day Veterans' Day Thanksgiving Day Day after Thanksgiving Christmas Eve Christmas Day Day After Christmas New Years' Eve New Year's Day Martin Luther King Day Presidents' Day Memorial Day Independence Day

- B. The District shall pay each regular employee at his/her straight-time hourly base rate not to exceed eight (8) hours for each of the above designated holidays when not worked. In order to qualify for holiday pay, an employee must have worked his/her last scheduled workday before and his/her first scheduled workday after the holiday. Exception will be made in cases where absence on the workday prior to or the workday following was due to annual leave, injury, bona fide illness covered by a doctor's certificate, or temporary layoff of less than thirty (30) days.
- C. The actual days observed shall be as designated on the calendar adopted by the School Board.

#### **ARTICLE XIX: LEAVES**

#### A. ANNUAL LEAVE:

1. Each year, regular employees, upon their employment anniversary dates, shall be entitled to paid Annual Leave corresponding to the following schedule:

Years of Service	Annual Leave
0-4 Years	13 Days or 104 Hours
5-14 Years	18 Days or 144 Hours
15- 18 Years	23 Days or 184 Hours
19+ Years	28 Days or 224 Hours

- 2. Such Annual Leave entitlement shall be prorated where unpaid absences exceed thirty (30) days in the twelve (12) months preceding the anniversary date.
- Current employees shall be credited with Annual Leave based on their length of service.
- 4. No Annual Leave can be taken before earned.
- Annual Leave days to a limit of thirty (30) may be cashed out at time of termination. No employee
  or his/her estate shall receive reimbursement for more than thirty (30) Annual Leave days at time
  of termination. Any balance over thirty (30) days may be applied to scheduled Annual Leave prior
  to termination.
- 6. The scheduling of Annual Leave days shall be at the discretion of Management, and the employee, based on operational needs.

- a. In establishing vacation schedules, it is not possible to grant all employees the annual leave period requested. Each craft must retain enough staff to cover anticipated operational needs, as supporting District needs is of prime importance. Management will work with employees who are in a "use it or lose it" situation.
- b. An employee's annual leave request will be provided to the direct supervisor and Management in writing thirty (30) days in advance for leaves three (3) days or longer in duration. Leaves that are submitted less than twenty-one (21) days in advance may not be granted. Leave approval or denial will be made by the district within five (5) working days. Vacation conflicts will initially be worked out between employees within the same unit. It may not be possible to grant all employees the annual leave they would prefer. If an agreement cannot be reached, information will be reviewed by their direct supervisor, senior General Foreperson, and Management to determine the schedule.
- 7. Maximum accumulation is limited to 240 hours. Employees must eliminate accumulated leave in excess of 240 hours each fiscal year (September-August). Such employees will be required to submit a plan for approval by their supervisor for eliminating excess leave by this deadline. Any unused leave in excess of 240 hours each fiscal year (September-August) will be reclaimed by the District.

#### B. SICK LEAVE:

Each regular employee shall earn Sick Leave equivalent to one (1) day for each calendar month of service or major fraction thereof to be used for absences caused by non-occupational illness, non-occupational injury, medical disability (including childbearing), poor health, or child care to the extent required by law. Use of such leave shall be set forth in Items a and b below. In the event there is an emergency caused by family illness, where no reasonable alternative is available to the employee, Sick Leave may be used subject to the conditions set forth for Personal Leave (X-C).

Temporary workers shall accrue and use sick leave in accordance with Washington state Sick Leave Law.

4.

- a. Use of Sick Leave shall be reported to the employee's supervisor prior to the start of the work shift and will become effective upon the first day of absence.
- b. A physician's certificate or other verification of illness or injury may be required for approval of Sick Leave, if the District has concerns regarding an employee's attendance if the employee has called in sick for more than three (3) consecutive days. Other verification of illness or injury may include an employee's statement explaining the unreasonable burden or expense of producing a physician's certificate...
- c. After the fifth (5<sup>th</sup>) consecutive day of absence, a physician's certification of illness will be required without diagnosis.
- 2. Accumulation: Employees shall be allowed to accumulate up to one hundred eighty (180) days of Sick Leave or as may be amended by State law.
- 3. Sick Leave Buy Back Program:
  - a. At the time of eligible separation from District employment, an eligible employee or the employee's estate shall be entitled, upon written request to Human Resources, to compensation for all unused Sick Leave up to the one-thousand four-hundred and forty (1,440) hour maximum at the ratio of 4:1 at his/her straight time hourly rate. Alternatively,

if/when the District offers VEBA III or other qualifying program; the District will discuss such programs with the Council.

b. On or about January 15 of each year, employees may elect to be compensated at the ratio of a rate equal to one (1) day's monetary compensation of the employee for each four (4) full days of accrued Sick Leave in excess of sixty (60) days which was earned but unused during the previous calendar year.

#### C. PERSONAL LEAVE:

1. Two (2) days [one (1) day if hired on or after March 1] of Personal Leave shall be available per fiscal year (September 1 through August 31) to regular employees for hardships or other pressing needs and will be granted in situations which require absence during working hours for purposes of transacting or attending to personal or legal business or family matters. Such days shall not accumulate from year to year.

#### Personal Leave should be used as follows:

- a. The situation must have been suddenly precipitated and must be of such nature that preplanning was not possible, or such that pre-planning could not have eliminated the need for the leave; and,
- b. The situation must be one which is serious and unavoidable and of major importance, not one of mere convenience.

#### D. BEREAVEMENT LEAVE:

- 1. In cases of death in the immediate family the employee will be allowed up to three (3) days Bereavement Leave. In cases where emergency factors or long distances are involved, the employee may request up to two (2) additional days leave.
  - a. Such requests should be sent to the employee's foreperson who shall submit it to the Maintenance Manager for approval.
  - b. For the purpose of Bereavement Leave, immediate family is defined to include mother, father, sister, brother, husband, wife, son, daughter, son-in-law, daughter-in-law, mother-in-law, father-in-law, brother-in-law, sister-in-law, grandchild, grandparent, aunt, uncle, or anyone who is living with, or considered part of, the family.
- 2. Bereavement Leave will be granted only for days immediately following the death and days directly linked to a formal observance of the death (e.g., a funeral or memorial service).
- 3. The employee requesting Bereavement Leave may be required to provide verification.

#### E. JURY DUTY AND COURT APPEARANCES:

- 1. Employees may serve as jurors in accordance with State and Federal laws.
- 2. Requests for Jury Duty for the necessary temporary leave shall be made in writing to the employee's foreperson, who shall submit it to the Maintenance Manager for approval.
- 3. Employees who serve as jurors during the work year shall receive full pay.
- 4. When an employee is subpoenaed to appear as a witness in a court proceeding during a normal work day on the District's behalf or as a witness in a proceeding in which the employee has no personal interest, the employee shall receive his/her regular pay for the day, provided that a copy

of the subpoena is provided to the District. This provision does not apply where the employee's appearance is adversarial to District interests.

#### F. UNPAID LEAVES:

The District does not grant unpaid leaves of absence or voluntary days off without pay except in unusual circumstances. Requests must be submitted in writing to the department manager and be approved before any leave of absence begins.

#### G. SHARED LEAVE:

The District agrees to maintain a leave sharing plan that conforms to the law.

#### H. MILITARY LEAVE:

The District will comply with Federal and State statutes.

#### I. FAMILY AND MEDICAL LEAVE ACT (FMLA):

The District will comply with current Federal and State statutes.

#### J. WASHINGTON PAID FAMILY MEDICAL LEAVE ACT (WPFMLA)

The Employer shall comply with the requirements of the Washington Paid Family and Medical Leave Act (WPFMLA) and for the term of this Agreement shall deduct employee contributions per State Plan requirements. The Employer agrees to negotiate the impacts and/or effects of any changes to the WPFMLA that occur after ratification of this Agreement and that affect employees' working conditions, to the extent permitted by law.

#### J.K. WORK AVAILABILITY INCENTIVE

In order to maximize the availability of Building Trades employees during the period that schools are most accessible, a five hundred dollar (\$500.00) peak\_five hundred and forty seven dollars and six cents (\$547.06) workload availability incentive will be paid to all regular employees who do not use any leave during the period of August 1 through September 10. Starting in the school year immediately preceding the ratification of this Agreement, the incentive will be increased annually by the state-funded and authorized inflationary adjustment that year. The incentive will be on the eligible employees' November paycheck following the incentive period each year. To be eligible to receive this incentive, an employee must be employed with the District and be a regular status or full-time temporary employee prior to July 1 of the incentive period. Management agrees to review exceptional circumstances if an employee has taken leave during the eligibility period and requests review prior to taking leave if possible and no later than five (5) working days after returning to work. Management will provide notice within five (5) working days from the date request received if a requested exception is not approved. If Management does not provide notice within five (5) working days, the exception is approved. A list of employees who did not qualify for payment will be reviewed with the Union prior to the incentive payment.

#### ARTICLE XIX: INJURY WHILE ON DUTY

A. Absence due to an injury incurred on or around School District premises in the course of the employee's employment, or as a direct result of the employee performing his/her duty, shall be compensated as follows:

- 1. State Medical Aid and/or compensation shall be paid upon validation of a claim by the Washington State Department of Labor and Industries and the Seattle School District in accordance with the Industrial Insurance Laws of the State of Washington, provided:
  - a. The employee shall promptly submit a Worker's Compensation Claim with the assistance of the designated District Office; and,
  - b. The employee provides to the designated District office monthly physician reports verifying continuation of the disability which prevents the employee from performing his/her duties.
  - c. An employee who suffers an injury must report any injury, no matter how slight.
- 2. In the instance of an injury described above, an employee shall be entitled to such benefits in accordance with the Industrial Insurance Laws of the State of Washington.
- B. The employee may elect to exercise the option of not using earned Annual Leave or Sick Leave to supplement time loss payments. Employees may elect to utilize earned Annual Leave or Sick Leave, in hourly increments, to supplement time loss payments to ensure that the employee receives his/her regular net pay.

#### **ARTICLE XIIXI: RATES OF PAY**

#### A. Payroll Schedules:

- 1. Regular Employees shall be paid monthly.
- 2. Temporary Employees shall be paid twice per month.
- 3. If regular employees are laid off, they will be paid off within ten (10) days of the layoff date.
- 4. All employees will be required to have direct deposit. Extenuating circumstance exceptions will be made on a case by case basis.
- B. Rate Protection: As a result of signing this Agreement, no current employee shall have his/her hourly rate reduced below the level currently paid to a journeyperson.

#### C. Lead Rates:

- 1. District Management shall appoint a Senior General Foreperson for Critical Maintenance. Senior General Foreperson pay shall be reflected in Appendix A.
- 2. The District shall appoint a General Foreperson when four (4) or more employees are. directly assigned to work for them and/or have the following responsibilities: supervision of the workers and or contractor, material requisition, planning and scheduling, approve employee payroll and work order item; provides electrical, structural, mechanical, etc. expertise; knowledge of codes. The General Foreperson pay shall be reflected in Appendix A.
- 3. District Management shall appoint a Foreperson for work orders and or projects requiring multiple employees and the duration of the work is estimated to exceed two (2) weeks and/or have the following responsibilities: supervision of the scope of work, material requisition, planning and scheduling. The Foreperson pay shall be reflected in Appendix A. In the event that mutual agreement on the need for supervisor staffing cannot be reached between the general foreperson and first-line management, the matter may be taken up by the Union with the Director of Facilities or designee.

- 4. If a Senior General Foreperson, General Foreperson, or Foreperson is absent for three (3) or more working days, District Management shall appoint a temporary Senior General Foreperson, General Foreperson or Foreperson to replace him/her. District Management may appoint a temporary Senior General Foreperson or General Foreperson or Foreperson for absences of less than three (3) days.
- 5. The Foreperson or General Foreperson or Senior General Foreperson will be compensated for all hours worked at the Foreperson's, General Foreperson's or Senior General Foreperson's hourly rate of pay as assigned, including work during an overtime period and for any paid holidays occurring after the temporary assignment is made. Any other hours on a paid leave status occurring during the period of the temporary assignment will be compensated at the individual's regular rate of pay.
- 6. If the temporary assignment is the result of a vacancy which the District intends to fill, the District barring unforeseen circumstances will make a good faith effort to make a selection and fill the vacancy via a regular appointment within thirty (30) working days.
- 7. The temporary Foreperson or General Foreperson or Senior General Foreperson will assume the same responsibilities of a regular Foreperson or General Foreperson or Senior General Foreperson and will be expected to establish work plans, dispatch individual workers and crews; review and sign timesheets, as appropriate; prepare requisitions and approve invoices, respond to emergencies as required of this position, keep good relations with schools and staff. A temporary Foreperson will not be assigned when the project or work order is less than required per C: Lead Rates. If a temporary Foreperson is to be reduced back to their regular position, notice will be given to them prior to reduction implementation.

#### D. Rates of Pay:

- 1. Prior to implementing the general wage increases described below, the District will add the following dollar amounts to specific classifications:
  - a. Electricians (does not include FA1 electrician): \$2.50 per hour.

The 2016-20172019-2020 rates of pay shall be the same as the 2015-20162018-2019 rates of pay increased by three percent (3%), five and four-tenths (5.4%).including the 1.8% state-funded pass through for classified staff. The increase shall be reflected in the salary schedule in Appendix A; provided however, employees in the following classification shall receive, in addition to the above increase, the additional increases specified here:

2.

• Electrician classification (not including FA1 Electrician classification), one percent (1.0%)

The 2017-20182020-2021 rates of pay shall be the 2016-20172019-2020 rates of pay increased by three percent (3%)two and one-tenths percent (2.1%), or the state funded and authorized inflationary increase, whichever is higher. including the state-funded pass throughfor classified staff, unless the state funded increase exceeds three percent (3%) in which case rates of pay shall be increased by the full state-funded increase. The increase shall be reflected in the salary schedule in Appendix A; provided however, employees in the following classification shall receive, in addition to the above increase, the additional increases specified here:

- Electrician classification (not including FA1 Electrician classification), half percent (0.5%).
- 4.3. The 2018-20192021-2022 rates of pay shall be the 2017-20182020-2021 rates of pay increased by three-two percent (32%), or the state funded and authorized inflationary increase, whichever is higher. including the stated-funded pass through for classified staff, unless the state-funded

increase exceeds three percent (3%) in which case rates of pay shall be increased by the full state-funded increase. The increase shall be reflected in the salary schedule in Appendix A.

- The percentage increase will be designed to fully utilize the increased funding in accordance with legislative intent. Prior to the implementation of pass-through increases, the District will discuss with the Seattle/King County Building and Construction Trades Council/Union the appropriate amount and distribution of the funds.
- 3.4. In the event the State of Washington reduces salary or benefits for school district classified staff, the parties agree that reductions may be imposed. However, prior to the implementation of reductions, the District will discuss with the Seattle/King County Building and Construction Trades Council/Union the manner in which the reductions may be imposed. If the parties cannot agree, the subject of imposed decreases will be treated as a negotiable matter.

#### E. Overpayment retrieval:

- 1. Salary overpayments due to error shall be repaid in accordance with RCW 49.48.200. RCW 49.48.200 incorporates RCW 49.48.210 for recoupment of overpayments.
- 2. When the District determines that a Union member was overpaid wages, the District shall notify the Union member's Union representative of the amount believed to be overpaid, and provide any documentation supporting or establishing the overpayment. Before beginning the recoupment process set forth in RCW 49.48.200 and RCW 49.48.210, the District and the Union representative shall negotiate the amount of overpayment and repayment schedule. The District will not bargain directly with any Union members during the process.

#### ARTICLE XIIIXII: PENSION

#### A. Regular Employees:

- 1. The District shall provide the required contributions to the Public Employees Retirement System or School Employee's Retirement System, as appropriate, for regular employees only.
- 2. Regular employees shall not be eligible for District contribution to any other pension plan except as provided under Article VII-B-3.

#### B. Temporary Employees:

- The District may as a matter of the recruitment process extend pension contribution as needed or allowable by law.
- 2. The District shall not be obligated to provide Public Employees Retirement System or School Employees Retirement System contributions to temporary employees except when a temporary employee has attained regular employee status as provided in Article VII-B-2.

#### ARTICLE XIVXIII: SENIORITY

- A. **Probationary Period:** Newly hired employees to employment in the bargaining unit and/or employees who have been rehired to employment in the bargaining unit shall complete a five (5) month probationary period. At the conclusion of such probationary period, the employee will be considered a regular employee and credited with seniority for service time from his/her initial date of hire less any time not spent working in the bargaining unit.
  - 1. Temporary employment, worked without a break in service of no more than one hundred and eighty (180) calendar days prior to regular appointment, counts toward the five (5) month

- probationary period when the employee is hired into a regular position or attains regular employee status as provided in Article VII-B-2.
- 2. A break in service shall not be created for the sole purpose of creating an additional probationary period or to prevent a temporary employee from attaining regular employee status.
- B. **Determination of Seniority:** In determining seniority, no deductions shall be made because of illness, accident, layoff or leave of absence when such time off does not exceed twenty-four (24) months.
- C. Loss of Seniority: Any employee shall lose seniority under this Agreement for the following reasons:
  - 1. Voluntary termination as a member of the bargaining unit.
  - 2. Discharge for cause.
  - 3. Failure to return to work within five (5) days after receipt of written notice of recall from layoff. The District shall be responsible to provide such written notice to the employee with a copy to the Council. Receipt of notice by the Council begins the five (5) working day recall period.
  - 4. Failure to return to work promptly after an unauthorized leave of absence.
  - Layoff for a period of twenty-four (24) months or longer, less time not spent working for the District.
  - 6. It shall be the employee's responsibility to keep the union and District informed of current address and telephone numbers.

#### D. Layoff Notification:

- 1. Employees with three (3) years of continuous service shall be given two (2) week's notice prior to layoff. Other employees shall be notified one (1) hour prior to layoff.
- 2. Employees acting in a Foreperson/General Foreperson role and shop stewards for the specific craft shall be advised of layoffs of supervised employees at the start of shifts in which the layoffs will take effect.
- E. **Short Calls:** The Union's signatory hereto shall allow the District, if it chooses, to use short calls of ten (10) days or less for the purpose of eliminating the waiting period created by a seniority recall order.
- F. **Determination of Layoffs and Recalls:** The District and the Council agree that length of service and skills required shall determine layoffs and recalls.
- G. **Military Service:** An employee called into military service shall not lose any seniority to which entitled under the law.
- H. **Temporary Employees:** Temporary employees shall not be used to replace regular employees with seniority unless those regular employees with seniority are unavailable as defined in Article XIV-C.

#### ARTICLE XVXIV: PERFORMANCE EVALUATION AND PERFORMANCE IMPROVEMENT PLAN

- A. Performance evaluations will be conducted as follows:
  - 1. All new hires will receive performance expectations at the start of their probationary period.

- 2. Each employee shall be evaluated at least once prior to completion of the probationary period. The appropriate union representative may request feedback on any employee discharged prior to the conclusion of the probationary period.
- 3. Regular employees shall be evaluated annually on or before the employee's anniversary date and will be provided a copy of their evaluation; employees will review performance expectations as part of the annual performance evaluation process.
- 4. Employee's direct supervisor will be responsible for completing the evaluation. All evaluations will be reviewed by the direct supervisor and management prior to issuance.
- 5. Employees who disagree with their evaluation may provide a written rebuttal, arrange to meet with the direct supervisor, Senior General Foreperson and Management for discussion or file a grievance if it pertains to process only.
- B. The performance evaluation will be developed and/or updated through the Labor/Management Committee.
- C. The Maintenance Manager will be responsible for implementing and carrying out a performance improvement plan for employees who have been placed on said improvement plan through the regular evaluation process.
- D. When an employee is placed on a performance improvement plan, he/she will receive a letter which will identify the specific:
  - 1. Issues which necessitated implementation of a performance improvement plan;
  - 2. Areas in which the employee must demonstrate sustained improvement; and consequences for failure to do so:
  - 3. Time period by which the employee will demonstrate improvement and
  - 4. The process for monitoring performance during that period.
- E. The Council will receive quarterly reports on performance improvement plans through the Labor/Management Committee.

#### ARTICLE XVIXV: DISCIPLINE AND DISCHARGE OF EMPLOYEES

- A. Employees and supervisors are encouraged to resolve matters concerning discipline through informal processes. Employees are entitled to Union Representation at meetings which may result in disciplinary action.
- B. No regular (non-probationary) employee shall be disciplined except for just cause. Generally, discipline shall be progressive in nature. Examples of discipline include, but are not limited to, oral and written reprimands, suspensions and termination.
- C. Prior to suspensions or terminations, Management shall demonstrate to the appropriate Union representative any previous discipline or direction given to the employee.

#### ARTICLE XVIIXVI: GROUP INSURANCE

The District shall make available funds to contribute toward premiums of District-approved or union group insurance programs.

A. Group insurance will be provided through the School Employees Benefits Board (SEBB) effective <u>January 1, 2020.</u> For each year of the agreement, the District shall contribute the classified State allocation for insurance per regular FTE employee. The District shall also pay the State the retiree carve-out above this amount.

Benefits officed offered through SEBB include:

- Basic Life and accidental deathedeath and dismemberment insurance (AD&D)
- Basic Long-term Disability
- Vision
- Dental, including orthodontia
- Medical Plan

Employees are eligible to participate in the Medical Flexible Spending Arrangement (FSA) and Dependent Care Assistance Program (DCAP) offered by SEBB. Employees will also have the option of enrolling in a Health Savings Account (HSA) when they select a qualifying High Deductible Plan (HDHP) for their medical insurance. In addition, employees will be able to utilize payroll deduction for any supplemental insurance that they choose to enroll in through SEBB (e.g., increased Life, AD&D, Long term disability, etc.).

To the extent that SEBB modifies, adds to, or removes any of the benefits described above, the District will comply, as required by State law. The District agrees to bargain any effects from modifications, to the extent permitted by law.

- B. Consistent with the SEBB program, eligibility for District-paid benefits will be determined by the District prior to every school year based on the District's anticipation that the employee will work at least 630 compensated hours per school year.
- C. The Union shall have the right to designate one representative to any District constituted Group Insurance Review committee, to the extent that such a committee is established.
- D. Temporary employees who are ineligible for SEBB insurance benefits will receive an additional one dollar and fifty cents per hour (\$1.50) in lieu of employer-funded insurance benefits.

#### **B.** Temporary Employees:

- 1. The District shall provide health and welfare contributions for temporary employees based upon the same hourly equivalent as those contributions made for the externally employed members of their respective craft or the amount specified by each health and welfare trust. Any District contribution in excess of the group insurance premium charged by the respective union health and welfare trust shall to allocate to the temporary employees union pension fund account. The rates shall be effective September 1 of each year and shall be in effect for that fiscal year.
- 2. In the event that a trust fund refuses to accept the health and welfare contribution on behalf of a temporary employee, then such temporary employee shall be paid an hourly premium in lieu of health and welfare benefits. Such premium shall be equal to the hourly contribution for the respective craft.
- 3. For temporary employees attaining regular employee status as provided in Article VII-B-2, enrollment in the benefit program for regular employees shall occur within the first thirty-one (31) days after attaining regular employee status. The District will continue to pay the employee's applicable union Health & Welfare contribution for any period prior to the effective date of medical coverage as a regular employee.

- C. Enrollment of New Employees: The enrollment of new employees in the benefit program shall begin with their employment and shall occur within the first thirty-one (31) days after the beginning of service.
  - 1. Those regular craft employees, on a craft-by-craft basis, who desire to opt out of the District's plan may elect to participate in their respective crafts health benefit plan, subject to the following conditions:
    - a. The monthly contribution shall be the same as for other classified employees as outlined in paragraph A, above.
    - b. The respective trust funds agree to accept the monthly contribution as the extent of the District's obligation for all health benefits, including life insurance, disability, etc. However, if the monthly contribution required by the trust fund exceeds the monthly allotment paid by the District, all affected employees shall have the difference deducted from their paychecks and remitted to the trust fund.
    - c. Such participation in these trust funds is allowed under and complies with applicable law.
    - d. Excess medical premiums of those employees not participating in the District sponsored medical plan shall go into the classified medical pool. The business representative for the craft(s) with excess medical premiums shall notify the Payroll Manager and the Department of Labor Relations by December 1 of each year of the excess medical premium amount to be credited to the classified medical pool. Such amount shall be in effect for one year.
- D. Benefits Committee: The District will, with the participation of all employee groups, establish a Joint Committee to review the delivery of District-sponsored insurance benefits. This committee shall meet no later than October 31 of each school year.
  - 1. The Committee shall study and make recommendations for consideration by the District and all involved employee groups concerning:
    - Self-insurance of insurance benefits.
    - c. The selection process for District-sponsored plans.
    - d. The use of excess reserves which may exist with insurance providers.
    - e. Surveying District employees to determine employee preference regarding insurance benefits.
  - 2. This Committee shall prepare its reports by the end of March of each school year for District and employee group(s) review.
  - 3. The parties have further agreed that it is their intent to comply with any limitations imposed by State laws. No provision of this agreement shall be interpreted or applied so as to place the District in breach of State law or subject the District to a State funding penalty.

#### ARTICLE XVIIIXVII: GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE

- A. The purpose of this procedure is to provide a means for the orderly and expeditious adjustment of grievances.
- B. Any dispute between the District and the Council concerning the interpretation, application or violation of the express terms of this Agreement shall be deemed a contract grievance.

- C. A contract grievance on behalf of a majority of the employees in the bargaining unit shall be reduced to writing by the Union and may be introduced at Step 3 of the contract grievance procedure and be processed with the time limits set forth herein.
- D. Any time limits stipulated in the grievance procedure may be extended for stated periods of time by the appropriate parties by mutual agreement in writing.
- E. Failure of the District to respond within the time limits, as specified, allows for the grievant or the Council to proceed to the next step.
- F. Arbitration awards or grievance settlements shall not be made retroactive beyond the date of the occurrence or non-occurrence upon which the grievance is based; that date being thirty (30) calendar days or less prior to the initial filing of the grievance.
- G. A contract grievance shall be processed in accordance with the following procedure:

**Informal Step:** A grievant shall first take up a complaint or problem with the appropriate supervisor in a private informal conference. Every effort should be made by the grievant and the appropriate supervisor to settle the grievance at this level.

**Step 1:** If the grievant is dissatisfied with the results of the informal conference with the appropriate supervisor, a contract grievance shall be presented by the Union Representative on a Grievance Review Request Form (See Appendix B) to the immediate supervisor of the aggrieved employee within ten (10) working days of the alleged contract violation. The parties shall make every effort to settle the contract grievance at this stage promptly. The immediate supervisor shall consult with and/or meet with the Union Representative, and respond to the grievance in writing within ten (10) working days.

**Step 2:** If the contract grievance is not resolved as provided in Step 1, the Union Representative shall forward the grievance to the Director of Facilities or designee within ten (10) working days after receipt of the Step 1 answer. The Director of Facilities or designee shall thereafter convene a meeting within ten (10) working days between the Union Representative and aggrieved employee, together with the designated supervisor, the Section Manager and any other members of management whose presence is deemed necessary by the District to a fair consideration of the alleged contract grievance. The Director of Facilities or designee shall give a written answer to the Union within ten (10) working days after the contract grievance meeting.

**Step 3:** If the contract grievance is not settled in Step 2, the Union may refer the issue to the American Arbitration Association for arbitration to be conducted under its voluntary labor arbitration regulations. Such reference to arbitration shall be made within thirty (30) calendar days after the answer in Step 2, and shall be accompanied by the following information:

- Identification of section(s) of Agreement allegedly violated as presented in Step 2 or mutually amended:
- 2. Nature of the alleged violation as presented in Step 3 or mutually amended;
- 3. Question(s) which the arbitrator is being asked to decide; and
- 4. Remedy sought.
- H. The parties shall abide by the award made in connection with any arbitral difference. There shall be no suspension of work, slowdown or curtailment of services while any difference is in process of adjustment or arbitration.
- I. In connection with any arbitration proceeding held pursuant to this Agreement, it is understood that:

- The arbitrator shall have no power to render a decision that will add to, subtract from or alter, change or modify the terms of this Agreement, and his/her power shall be limited to interpretation or application of the express terms of this Agreement, and all other matters shall be excluded from arbitration.
- 2. The decision of the arbitrator shall be final, conclusive and binding upon the District, the Union and the employees involved.
- 3. The cost of the arbitrator shall be borne equally by the District and the Union and each party shall bear the cost of presenting its own case.
- 4. The arbitrator's decision shall be made in writing and shall be issued to the parties within thirty (30) days after the case is submitted to the arbitrator.

#### ARTICLE XIXXVIII: SAVINGS CLAUSE

If any provision(s) or any application(s) of this Agreement to any employee or group of employees shall be found contrary to law, then such provision(s) or application(s) shall not be deemed valid and subsisting except to the extent permitted by law, but all other provisions or applications shall continue in full force and effect for the term of this Agreement, and the parties shall thereupon seek to negotiate substitute provisions which are in conformity with the applicable laws.

#### ARTICLE XXXIX: WORK STOPPAGE

- A. The Union agrees not to cause any strikes or stoppages of work, and the District agrees not to engage in any lockouts during the life of this Agreement.
- B. It shall not be a violation of this Agreement or cause for discipline or discharge for any employee to refuse to cross a legal picket line (endorsed by the Seattle/King County Building and Construction Trades Council) in the performance of his/her duties, as provided under this Article.

#### ARTICLE XXIXX: JURISDICTIONAL DISPUTES

Any jurisdictional dispute which may arise between any two (2) or more labor organizations signatory to this collective bargaining agreement with the District shall be settled in the following manner:

- A. A Union which contends a jurisdictional dispute exists shall file a written statement with the District and other affected Unions describing the substance of the dispute.
  - During the thirty (30) day period following the written statement described in Article XXI-A, the Unions along with representatives of the District shall attempt to settle the dispute among themselves with the assistance of the Washington State Public Employment Relations Commission Mediation Service, if needed.
  - 2. If the dispute is not settled by the means provided in Article XXI-B, either of the disputing Unions or the District may refer said dispute to the American Arbitration Association for arbitration to be conducted under its voluntary labor arbitration regulations.
- B. The District shall not assign work customarily performed by members of the Bargaining Unit to other District employees. Claims of violation of this understanding shall not be subject to the grievance and arbitration provisions of this agreement, but rather shall be processed in accordance with applicable law.

#### ARTICLE XXIIXXI: HIRING

- A. The District will call upon the appropriate local union to refer qualified applicants for work in the classifications herein contained.
- B. Selection and referral of applicants for jobs shall be on a non-discriminatory basis and shall in no way be affected by race, color, age, gender, creed, national origin, ancestry, economic status, pregnancy, physical appearance, religious belief, marital status, gender identity, sexual orientation or mental, physical or sensory disability, nor by Union membership, bylaws, rules, regulations, constitutional provisions, or any other aspect or obligation of Union membership, policies or requirements. Shop stewards shall be notified of new hires before the beginning of the shift in which the new employee begins work.
- C. When the District has placed an oral or written order for referral of workers from the Local Union and should a shortage of applicants exist, and they cannot be supplied by the Local Union within forty-eight (48) hours from the time workers ordered are required to report to the job, Saturdays, Sundays and holidays excluded, the District may then seek applicants from other sources. When the District so hires workers from sources other than the Local Union, the District shall notify the Council in accordance with Article IV-B.

#### ARTICLE XXIIIXXII: TERM OF AGREEMENT

This Agreement shall become effective when signed by all parties and will run through August 31, 20192022. Written notice of intent to terminate or modify this Agreement must be served by the requesting party at least sixty (60), but no more than ninety (90), days prior to the expiration date of the Agreement.

#### ARTICLE XXIVXXIII: PROTECTION OF EMPLOYEES AND PROPERTY

The District or its insurer shall reimburse an employee for any certified loss of or damage to personal property necessarily used in the course of duty or in transporting him/her to or from his/her place of assignment when such loss or damage is willfully and maliciously inflicted by students or persons known or unknown on District premises or while the employee is on duty, subject to the following conditions:

- A. The District shall reimburse first-dollar losses up to the limit of the employee's insurance deductible not to exceed five hundred (\$500) dollars.
- B. There shall be no reimbursement for loss of cash.
- C. The use of personal equipment at work must have the prior approval of the supervisor, and a current inventory must be on file.
- D. There must be proof submitted that the employee either has no insurance or that his/her insurance does not cover the damage or loss in question. An employee must exhaust his/her own insurance recovery possibilities before being eligible for reimbursement under this Article.
- E. A Notice of Loss and Claim Reimbursement Form must be filed with the District's General Counsel's Office within twenty (20) days after the damage or loss occurs.

#### ARTICLE XXVXXIV: APPRENTICESHIP PROGRAM

A. The District and the Council agree to form a committee to review the feasibility of implementing an apprenticeship program. The Apprenticeship Committee will be composed of up to three (3) District representatives and three (3) Council representatives. The Committee will meet within 60 days of ratification with the contract by both parties. The Committee will design a proposed State- approved training program and will only implement if it is agreed to by both parties. The Committee will conform to the standard of the Apprenticeship Rules, Chapter 296-05 Washington Administrative

Code (WAC) and RCW 49.04.

- 1. Council recommends the District become a training agent for existing BTC apprenticeship training programs.
- 2. Council recommends to exclude this from the CBA; instead, do an MOU after committee meets.

- 2019-20 CRAFTS & TRAD	ES SALARY SCHEDU	JLE	APPENDIX A		
(CT3, CT6, & CT8)			-		
Effective 9/1/2019			-		
-			-		
-			-		
-			-		
<u>Trade</u>	<u>Hourly</u>	<u>Monthly</u>	<u>Annual</u>		
Asbestos Worker	<u>\$39.04</u>	<u>\$6,766.93</u>	<u>\$81,203</u>		
Electrician	<u>\$39.89</u>	<u>\$6,914.27</u>	<u>\$82,971</u>		
FA1 Electrician	<u>\$41.61</u>	<u>\$7,212.40</u>	\$86,549		
Electronic Tech	<u>\$34.32</u>	<u>\$5,948.80</u>	<u>\$71,386</u>		
Plumber/Steamfitter	<u>\$40.28</u>	<u>\$6,981.87</u>	<u>\$83,782</u>		
Glazier	<u>\$34.78</u>	<u>\$6,028.53</u>	<u>\$72,342</u>		
<u>Bricklayer</u>	<u>\$35.65</u>	<u>\$6,179.33</u>	<u>\$74,152</u>		
Roofer	<u>\$36.18</u>	<u>\$6,271.20</u>	<u>\$75,254</u>		
Sheet Metal	<u>\$39.30</u>	<u>\$6,812.00</u>	<u>\$81,744</u>		
<u>Painter</u>	<u>\$33.79</u>	<u>\$5,856.93</u>	<u>\$70,283</u>		
<u>Laborer</u>	<u>\$29.85</u>	<u>\$5,174.00</u>	<u>\$62,088</u>		
Equipment Operator	<u>\$33.21</u>	<u>\$5,756.40</u>	<u>\$69,077</u>		
<u>Carpet Layer</u>	<u>\$33.36</u>	<u>\$5,782.40</u>	<u>\$69,389</u>		
Drywall Taper	<u>\$34.24</u>	<u>\$5,934.93</u>	<u>\$71,219</u>		
General Foreperson	<u>\$45.77</u>	<u>\$7,933.64</u>	<u>\$95,204</u>		
Senior General		40 00	****		
Foreperson	<u>\$50.35</u>	\$8,727.00	<u>\$104,724</u>		
-			-		
1. Forepersons shall be paid a strate.	3.00 premium in addition	to their regular hourly	_		
2. General Forepersons shall be	e paid 10% higher than the	e highest paid rate. (FA1 El	ectrician)		
3. Senior General Foreperson s	•	•	<del>,</del>		
Foreperson.			-		
4. Laborers assigned to work a	s equipment operators sha	ll be paid a \$1.00	_		
<u>premium</u> - <u>in addition to the regular Laborer rate.</u>					
5. Any employee who has curr		r. and who is assigned riggi	ng duties.		
will be paid a \$4.00 premiur					
6. The parties to this agreemen	•		assification and rates		
in this Appendix, in lieu of a					
_			_		
2019-20 Crafts & Trades Salary Schedule includes a 5.4% increase effective 9/1/2019					
2019-20 Crafts & Trades Salary S	chedule includes a 5.4% inc	rease effective 9/1/2019	-		
_	_	<u>_</u>	_		

2020-21 CRAFTS & TRADES SALARY SCHEDULE			APPENDIX A		
(CT3, CT6, & CT8) Effective 9/1/2020			-		
			_		
			_		
<u>Trade</u>	<u>Hourly</u>	<u>Monthly</u>	<u>Annual</u>		
Asbestos Worker	<u>\$39.86</u>	<u>\$6,909.07</u>	\$82,909		
<u>Electrician</u>	<u>\$40.73</u>	\$7,059.87	<u>\$84,718</u>		
FA1 Electrician	<u>\$42.48</u>	<u>\$7,363.20</u>	<u>\$88,358</u>		
Electronic Tech	<u>\$35.04</u>	\$6,073.60	<u>\$72,883</u>		
Plumber/Steamfitter	<u>\$41.13</u>	<u>\$7,129.20</u>	\$85,550		
<u>Glazier</u>	<u>\$35.51</u>	\$6,155.07	<u>\$73,861</u>		
<u>Bricklayer</u>	<u>\$36.40</u>	\$6,309.33	\$75,712		
Roofer	<u>\$36.94</u>	<u>\$6,402.93</u>	<u>\$76,835</u>		
Sheet Metal	<u>\$40.13</u>	<u>\$6,955.87</u>	\$83,470		
<u>Painter</u>	\$34.50	\$5,980.00	<u>\$71,760</u>		
<u>Laborer</u>	<u>\$30.48</u>	\$5,283.20	\$63,398		
Equipment Operator	<u>\$33.91</u>	<b>\$5,877.73</b>	<u>\$70,533</u>		
Carpet Layer	<u>\$34.06</u>	\$5,903.73	<u>\$70,845</u>		
Drywall Taper	<u>\$34.96</u>	\$6,059.73	<u>\$72,717</u>		
General Foreperson	<u>\$46.73</u>	<u>\$8,099.52</u>	<u>\$97,194</u>		
Senior General					
Foreperson	<u>\$51.40</u>	<u>\$8,909.47</u>	<u>\$106,914</u>		
1 Farancean shall be uside 6	2 00	. 40 4b -:	-		
1. Forepersons shall be paid a Strate.	55.00 premium in addition	i to their regular nourly	_		
2. General Forepersons shall be	e paid 10% higher than the	e highest paid rate. (FA1 El	ectrician)		
3. Senior General Foreperson s	hall be paid 10% higher t	han the General	<del>,</del>		
Foreperson.			-		
4. Laborers assigned to work as	s equipment operators sha	<u>ll be paid a \$1.00</u>	_		
premium  in addition to the magular Laborar rate					
in addition to the regular Laborer rate.  5. Any employee who has current certification as a rigger, and who is assigned rigging duties,					
will be paid a \$4.00 premium			ing daties,		
6. The parties to this agreemen			assification and rates		
in this Appendix, in lieu of a continued premium. This determination is a result of collective bargaining.					
-	<u> </u>		<u></u>		
2020-21 Crafts & Trades Salary S	chedule includes a 2.1% inc	rease effective 9/1/2020	-		
_	_	_	_		

- 2021-22 CRAFTS & TRAD (CT3, CT6, & CT8)	ES SALARY SCHEDU	J <u>LE</u>	APPENDIX A		
Effective 9/1/2021			-		
Effective 7/1/2021			-		
-			-		
-			-		
- Trade	<u>Hourly</u>	Monthly	- <u>Annual</u>		
Asbestos Worker	<u>\$40.66</u>	<u>\$7,047.73</u>	\$84,573		
Electrician	<u>\$41.54</u>	\$7,200.27	\$86,403		
FA1 Electrician	<u>\$43.33</u>	\$7,510.53	\$90,126		
Electronic Tech	<u>\$35.74</u>	<u>\$6,194.93</u>	<u>\$74,339</u>		
Plumber/Steamfitter	<u>\$41.95</u>	\$7,271.33	<u>\$87,256</u>		
Glazier	<u>\$36.22</u>	<u>\$6,278.13</u>	\$75,338		
<u>Bricklayer</u>	<u>\$37.13</u>	<u>\$6,435.87</u>	<u>\$77,230</u>		
Roofer	<u>\$37.68</u>	\$6,531.20	<u>\$78,374</u>		
Sheet Metal	<u>\$40.93</u>	<u>\$7,094.53</u>	<u>\$85,134</u>		
<u>Painter</u>	<u>\$35.19</u>	<u>\$6,099.60</u>	<u>\$73,195</u>		
<u>Laborer</u>	<u>\$31.09</u>	<u>\$5,388.93</u>	<u>\$64,667</u>		
Equipment Operator	<u>\$34.59</u>	\$5,995.60	<u>\$71,947</u>		
Carpet Layer	<u>\$34.74</u>	<u>\$6,021.60</u>	<u>\$72,259</u>		
<u>Drywall Taper</u>	\$35.66	<u>\$6,181.07</u>	<u>\$74,173</u>		
General Foreperson	<u>\$47.66</u>	\$8,261.59	\$99,139		
Senior General					
Foreperson	<u>\$52.43</u>	<u>\$9,087.75</u>	<u>\$109,053</u>		
- 1. Forepersons shall be paid a	\$2.00 promium in addition	to their regular hourly	-		
rate.	\$5.00 premium in addition	to then regular hourry	-		
2. General Forepersons shall b	e paid 10% higher than the	e highest paid rate. (FA1 E	lectrician)		
3. Senior General Foreperson s	shall be paid 10% higher th	nan the General			
Foreperson.		11.1	-		
4. Laborers assigned to work as equipment operators shall be paid a \$1.00					
<u>premium</u> <u>in addition to the regular Laborer rate.</u>					
5. Any employee who has current certification as a rigger, and who is assigned rigging duties,					
will be paid a \$4.00 premiur			<u>-</u>		
6. The parties to this agreemen	t agree to the addition of t	he FA-1 Electrician as a cl	assification and rates		
in this Appendix, in lieu of a	a continued premium. Thi	s determination is a result of	of collective bargaining.		
-			-		
2021-22 Crafts & Trades Salary Schedule includes a 2.0% increase effective 9/1/2021					
2021-22 Crans & Trades Salary S	enequie includes a 2.0% Inc.	10asc effective 9/1/2021	-		
_		_	_		

## 2016-17 CRAFTS & TRADES SALARY SCHEDULE (CT3, CT6 & CT8) Effective 9/1/2016

**APPENDIX A** 

<del>Trade</del>	Hourly	<b>Monthly</b>	Annual
Asbestos Worker	<del>\$34.88</del>	<del>\$6,046.48</del>	<del>\$72,558</del>
<del>Electrician</del>	<del>\$33.12</del>	<del>\$5,740.90</del>	<del>\$68,891</del>
FA1 Electrician	<del>\$37.18</del>	<del>\$6,443.86</del>	<del>\$77,326</del>
Electronic Tech	<del>\$30.66</del>	<del>\$5,314.11</del>	<del>\$63,769</del>
Plumber/Steamfitter	<del>\$35.99</del>	<del>\$6,237.76</del>	<del>\$74,853</del>
Glazier	<del>\$31.07</del>	<del>\$5,386.06</del>	<del>\$64,633</del>
Bricklayer	<del>\$31.85</del>	<del>\$5,520.97</del>	<del>\$66,252</del>
Roofer	<del>\$32.33</del>	<del>\$5,604.16</del>	<del>\$67,250</del>
Sheet Metal	<del>\$35.12</del>	<del>\$6,086.75</del>	<del>\$73,041</del>
<del>Painter</del>	<del>\$30.19</del>	<del>\$5,233.04</del>	<del>\$62,796</del>
Laborer	<del>\$26.67</del>	<del>\$4,622.95</del>	<del>\$55,475</del>
Equipment Operator	<del>\$28.70</del>	<del>\$4,974.82</del>	<del>\$59,698</del>
Carpet Layer	<del>\$29.81</del>	<del>\$5,166.59</del>	<del>\$61,999</del>
Drywall Taper	<del>\$30.60</del>	<del>\$5,303.51</del>	<del>\$63,642</del>
General Foreperson	<del>\$40.89</del>	<del>\$7,088.25</del>	<del>\$85,059</del>
Senior General Foreperson	<del>\$44.98</del>	<del>\$7,797.07</del>	<del>\$93,565</del>

- 1. Forepersons shall be paid a \$3.00 premium in addition to their regular hourly rate.
- 2. General Forepersons shall be paid 10% higher than the highest paid rate. (FA1-Electrician)
- 3. Senior General Foreperson shall be paid 10% higher than the General Foreperson.
- 4. Laborers assigned to work as equipment operators shall be paid a \$1.00 premium in addition to the regular Laborer rate.
- 5. Any employee who has current certification as a rigger, and who is assigned rigging duties, will be paid a \$4.00 premium when performing such duties.
- 6. The parties to this agreement agree to the addition of the FA-1 Electrician as a classification and rates in this Appendix, in lieu of a continued premium. This determination is a result of collective bargaining.

2016-17 Trades Salary Schedule w/3.0% increase effective 9/1/2016.

**GRIEVANCE NUMBER:** 



**DESTINATION:** 

□ Human Resources

## APPENDIX B: GRIEVANCE REVIEW REQUEST TRADES GRIEVANCE REVIEW REQUEST

**TRADES UNIT:** 

□ Facilities Supervi	sor/Director	or/Director Trades#:				
<ul><li>Grievant</li><li>SKCBCTC</li><li>Specific Trade</li></ul>			District#:			
Grievant:	Name	Job Title		Location		Date Submitted
Supervisor:	Name	Job Title		Location		Date Resolved
Grievance:  1. Describe fully when, where and how the grievance took place (attach additional information as necessary):						
2. State specific provis	ion(s) of the Agre	ement which is allo	eged to I	have been violated, m	isinter	preted or misapplied:
3. Remedy requested:						
Grievant's Signature:					Da	ite:
Informal Step	Did the inform  ☐ Yes ☐ No	al Step occur?	Name	of Supervisor:		Date:
Step 1 Hearing Date:	Was Union Re Hearing?	p present at No		Union Rep's Name		Response Date (copy attached):
Supervisor's Signature:  Is answer satisfactory to Grievant?  □ Yes □ No						
Step 2 Hearing Date:	at Hearing	□ No	•	Union Rep's Name		ponse Date (copy ched):
Director's/Designee's Signature:  Is answer satisfactory to Grievant?  ☐ Yes ☐ No  Union Representative's Signature						
Step 3 AAA Date:	AAA Parti	cipants:	Name	of Arbitrator:	Res	ponse Date:

### APPENDIX C: DUES DEDUCTION SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT

This Settlement Agreement ("Agreement") is entered into between the Seattle/King County Building and Construction Trades Council ("Building Trades"), the Building Laborers, Local 242 ("Laborers"), and the Seattle School District No. 1 ("District") to fully and finally resolve a grievance filed by the Laborers on or about April 14, 2009.

#### **RECITALS**

- A. On or about April 14, 2009, the Laborers filed a grievance with the District claiming that working dues or union dues were not paid to the Laborers in compliance with the 2007-2010 Collective Bargaining Agreement between the Building Trades and the District. The parties moved this dispute to arbitration, Case No. 75 390 00269 09.
- B. In order to avoid the expense and uncertainty were the parties to continue to litigate or administratively challenge this dispute, and in an effort to work more collaboratively in the future, the parties now desire to settle and forever resolve said disputes upon the terms and conditions set forth herein.

#### NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS AGREED AS FOLLOWS:

- 1. The District agrees to submit to the Building Trades a list of all full-time, part-time, and temporary employees currently working for the District and represented by the Building Trades. The District will submit this list to the Building Trades within one week after this Agreement is signed by both parties.
- 2. The Building Trades warrants and represents to the District that they have written authorization from all District employees on whose behalf they request dues deductions from the District. The Building Trades also warrants and represents to the District that all future individuals dispatched to the District from the Building Trades, and on whose behalf the Building Trades request dues deductions, will have provided written authorization for such deductions.
- 3. For all future dispatched individuals sent to work at the District by the Building Trades for all trades/locals except for the Laborers, all such individuals will bring with them on their first day of work a form, created by their respective local, indicating whether union dues are to be withheld by the District and the amount for that particular employee. For current employees represented by the Building Trades, the District will continue to withhold union dues unless the District is told to stop by the Building Trades. For current employees represented by the Building Trades, who self-pay union dues, the District will not withhold union dues for those employees, unless a form is turned in by the Building Trades indicating that union dues are to be withheld by the District and the amount for that particular employee.
- 4. For all future dispatched individuals sent to work at the District by the building Trades who are part of the Laborers, the District will withhold union dues for all such employees assigned to the District in the amount provided to the District under paragraph 6. For current employees represented by the Laborers, the District will continue to withhold union dues in the same amount, until that amount is changed under paragraph 6.
- 5. The Building Trades and District agree that it will be the responsibility of the Building Trades or individual locals to obtain written dues check-off authorizations for all future dispatched individuals sent to work at the District by the Building Trades. The District has no responsibility to ask any employee represented by the Building Trades to sign a dues check-off authorization document. It is the sole responsibility of the Building Trades to get a dues check-off authorization form signed.

- 6. The Building Trades agrees that it will be the responsibility of the Building Trades to provide written notice to the District of the dues amounts to be withheld for all employees when the dues amount is changed. It is the further responsibility of the Building Trades to submit any change in the amount of the dues to be withheld to the District at least 30 days in advance of the requested change date.
- 7. The District agrees to pay the Laborers \$3,900 to resolve all issues related to improperly withheld or paid union dues, including all working dues and union dues.
- 8. The Laborers agree to withdraw its grievance and its request for arbitration related to the dues dispute (Case No. 75 390 00269 09).
- 9. The Building Trades and Laborers agree to not file any future grievances, claims, or lawsuits for any unpaid dues, including working dues or union dues, from all past dates until the date this agreement is signed.
- 10. This Agreement is for settlement purposes only and does not constitute an admission of any wrongful act or omission by any party. This Agreement is non-precedent setting.
- 11. Each party is responsible for paying their own costs and fees related to this dispute, including but not limited to arbitrator fees and attorney fees.
- 12. This two-page Agreement constitutes the entire understanding between the Building Trades, the Laborers, and the District.

#### 2016-20192019-2022

#### **MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING**

between

**SEATTLE SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 1** 

and

SEATTLE/KING COUNTY BUILDING AND CONSTRUCTION TRADES COUNCIL

#### MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING BY AND BETWEEN SEATTLE SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 1 AND

#### SEATTLE/KING COUNTY BUILDING AND CONSTRUCTION TRADES COUNCIL

#### **ESSB 5940**

Seattle Public Schools (SPS) and the Seattle/King County Building and Construction Trades Council (the Union), mutually acknowledge that, among other things, Section 3 of HSSB 5940, which took effect on July 11, 2012, directs Washington state school districts to make progress:

- (a) on "promoting health care innovations and cost savings and significantly reducing administrative costs;"
- (b) "toward employee premiums that are established to ensure that full family coverage premiums are not more than three times the premiums for employees purchasing single coverage for the same coverage plan, unless a subsequent premium differential target is defined as a result of the review and subsequent actions described in section 6 of this act;" and
- (c) to "offer employees at least one health benefit plan that is a high deductible health plan offered in conjunction with a health savings account in which the employee share of the premium cost for a full-time employee, regardless of whether the employee chooses employee-only coverage or coverage that includes dependents, does not exceed the share of premium cost paid by state employees during the state employee benefits year that started immediately prior to the school year."

Therefore, SPS and the Union mutually agree to make good faith efforts to work together during the term of this agreement to make progress as directed by this law.

Note. This Memorandum is considered signed when the Agreement is signed.